Children and young people's financial capability: policy landscape analysis

August 2018

Zoe Renton



Children and young people's financial capability: policy landscape analysis

Foreword

The things we see and learn about money in childhood and adolescence can have long-lasting consequences. Money habits that can last for life begin to form between the ages of 3 and 7, and are shaped by our experiences in school, at home, and in communities. There are opportunities through all these routes to make a significant, positive difference to future generations' ability to manage their money well.

The Money Advice Service wants to ensure every child gets a meaningful financial education, no matter what their needs or circumstances.

In late 2018 MAS will finalise its first ever Children and Young People's Financial Capability Commissioning Plan, which will set out how we plan to work towards achieving this goal in the years 2019-22.

We published the first step on our way to this plan, our analysis of CYP Financial Capability Needs, in April 2018. This set out topics on which CYP may need more financial education support, and which CYP may be in greater need than others. The Provision Analysis, Evidence Analysis, and Policy Landscape Analysis we are now publishing are the next steps. They are the first reports of their kind in the UK, and draw together everything we know about how financial education is currently delivered, what is effective in helping children develop financial capability, and the risks and opportunities of the policy context in each UK nation.

In Sept-Oct 2018 MAS will consult on draft recommendations for how we plan to put all this evidence into action over coming years, before finalising our commissioning plan in the months that follow. Our intention is that this will inform the financial capability strategy for the UK for future years, including funding, delivery, influencing, and research activity.

We also hope these reports will be of use to anyone seeking to understand how financial education is currently delivered in the UK, and where the gaps and opportunities for change for the better lie. We will keep them updated and welcome feedback to inform future versions.

I am delighted to introduce these documents and look forward to hearing your contributions and reflections as we work towards our Commissioning Plan over the coming months.



Sarah Porretta

Director of Financial Capability

Contents

Executive Summary	4
Introduction	8
Policy Opportunities in Context: A Brief Discussion of Wider Trends	10
The Current Policy Context across the UK and the Devolved Nations	14
Overarching legislative and policy frameworks	14
Financial education in schools	19
The school curriculum	19
School improvement and inspection	26
Services for young people	28
Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice	28
Youth services	32
Early education and childcare	35
Family services	38
Children in vulnerable circumstances	41
Poverty, inequality and social mobility	41
Disabled children and those with special educational needs (SEND)	46
Children in care, care leavers and children in need	49
Young carers	54
Mental health and well-being	55
Housing and welfare	56
Conclusion	52

Executive Summary

This report provides an analysis of current and emerging public policy across the UK's four nations to identify opportunities to improve and widen financial education for children and young people. It seeks to contextualise these opportunities, with a brief analysis and discussion of the wider political, economic, social, technological, legal and environmental trends affecting children's relationship with money and their financial skills. The report has been developed through a desk-based analysis of relevant policy frameworks across the UK, and consultation with sector experts. The opportunities and risks presented in this report will inform the development of MAS's children and young people financial capability commissioning plan.

Improving children and young people's financial capability: current policy opportunities

Across the UK, coverage of financial education in the school curriculum provides a valuable lever for focusing schools' attention on financial education, although the subject remains non-statutory in English primary schools. A general policy trend towards schools working together to improve their teaching, and the priority given to narrowing the gap between disadvantaged children and their peers, will need to be reflected in work with school leaders and teachers.

While financial capability does not feature so prominently in youth work strategies across the four nations, there could be an opportunity to change this with all three of the devolved nations reaching the end of the lifespan of their current plans. Similarly, the use of children's or family centres to offer integrated services for families, across the UK, provides a useful route to promote wholefamily financial capability and engage parents in supporting their children to develop financial capability, as well as a means of helping families learn money skills together. Use of the same interventions and approaches across some or all of the nations, such as universal health visiting, parenting support and Family Nurse Partnership, might be a vehicle for delivering targeted financial education to parents and their children across the country.

The ambition of all four nations to improve outcomes for **looked after children and care leavers**, a group potentially in need of specific

support, offers a route to build in targeted financial education. In relation to another vulnerable group, all four UK nations have recently reformed support for children and young people with special educational needs. This offers a chance to test ways of embedding appropriate financial education as local agencies and practitioners focus on delivering the reforms and improving provision. At the same time, the increasing prioritisation of action to improve children's mental health, among policymakers across the UK, could be an opportunity to increase knowledge about the relationship between childhood mental health and money and to test practice.

While there are clearly some consistent policy trends across the UK, as outlined above, the devolution of most policy relevant to children and young people's lives and their financial education, and significant differences in policy across the nations, necessitates a differentiated approach across the country.

Key opportunities in England:

- In the **curriculum**, the development of new statutory requirements and programmes for health education and relationships and sex education is an opportunity to strengthen the connections made by teachers between these areas of compulsory study and financial capability. Financial education could also be built into the core content of the new A Level-standard technical education qualifications T Levels.
- The personalised support provided to young people to help them into work,

through the government's Dormant Accounts Youth Fund, and skills development offered to young people as part of the Nation Citizen Service, could be used to provide more financial education.

- The implementation of the government's new careers advice strategy could offer a route through which schools contextualise and strengthen their financial education provision. Plans to test what effective careers provision looks like for primary-age pupils is a chance to offer financial education in primary schools where it is not currently part of the national curriculum.
- The future of the Troubled Families programme, providing support to vulnerable families, remains unclear, with funding committed to 2020 only. If or when government addresses this emerging gap in the policy framework, there is an opportunity to enhance existing family support provision so it helps families develop money skills together.
- Possible policy action resulting from the government's current review of educational outcomes of children in need (including children in care and care leavers) could help to enhance the delivery of life skills support, including financial education, for these children and young people.
- for Education's **social mobility** strategy, Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Lives, could be used to improve the financial capability of disadvantaged young people, for example through the Essential Life Skills programme for young people growing up in 'opportunity areas'. The policy's current emphasis on early childhood language development could be complemented by activities focused on early numeracy for disadvantaged young children and their families, key to maths

attainment and thereby financial capability.

Key opportunities in Northern Ireland:

Note: Power-sharing arrangements in Northern Ireland have been suspended since January 2017

- Northern Ireland's financial capability strategy comes to an end in 2018, with some commitments still to be delivered including a review of financial education in schools. This, and any development of a new strategy, is an opportunity to further strengthen provision for children and young people's money skills.
- The government's intention to develop a new family support strategy, replacing Families Matter published in 2009, could be used to secure action to enable families to learn together and parents to improve their children's financial capability.
- The Executive's draft children in care strategy and proposed Adoption and Children Bill are focused on education and skills and preparing looked after children for independence, providing a route to embed financial capability into care and education planning.
- Northern Ireland is reaching the end of its current child poverty strategy, which runs from 2014 to 2017 and focuses on narrowing the academic attainment gap between children growing up in poverty and their peers. This approach could be expanded in any replacement strategy to ensure work to narrow the povertyrelated gap in children's educational outcomes addresses wider life skills, including financial capability.

Key opportunities in Scotland:

 Plans to give schools greater freedoms over their curriculum, while a challenge for those seeking to influence school practice, could be an opportunity to create centres of excellent financial education by working with school leaders

- and Regional Improvement Collaboratives.
- The implementation of actions from the government's review into learning for young people aged 15-24 offers an opportunity to build financial education into the post-16 and work-based learning offer.
- The government's new family learning action plan could be used to test and expand whole-family financial education.
- Expansion of the free early education offer, with a focus on driving up quality, is an opportunity to improve practice to develop the early building blocks for financial capability, and plans to revise national early years guidance could help to promote practitioner and parent behaviours that will strengthen these.
- focused on **child poverty** with new legislation passed in 2017, an associated delivery plan, a new poverty commission and local planning requirements, alongside the introduction of a financial healthcheck for vulnerable families. This activity is an opportunity to highlight the link between poverty and children's financial capability and ensure actions to tackle the effects of poverty on children address financial learning, for example by ensuring this topic is addressed in local authorities' and local health boards' child poverty plans.
- Statutory guidance on support for children with additional learning needs makes explicit reference to financial capability in the context of a young person preparing to leave school, a useful 'hook' to explore targeted provision with government and service providers. The development of an online resource for disabled children and their families could provide a route to communicate directly with children, young people and parents/carers about supporting disabled children and young people and those with SEN to develop good financial capability.
- Implementation of the Carers (Scotland)
 Act 2016 provides a chance to test and strengthen targeted financial education

for **young carers**, through local carers strategies and young carers 'statements'.

Key opportunities in Wales:

- There is the potential to strengthen the focus on financial well-being in local service planning, through the ongoing implementation of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.
- Coverage of financial education in the Welsh school curriculum is already comprehensive. The current development of a new curriculum across all school phases and subjects, and implementation of the Education in Wales: our national mission strategy to 2021, is an opportunity to build on this.
- Potential policy levers for improving informal financial education for young people include the new five-year apprenticeships plan and the government's intention to develop a new youth work strategy.
- The Take Time to Talk, Listen and Play campaign for parents of young children could be developed to encourage number talk, drawing on evidence around the link between number talk and childhood maths skills, a predictor of financial capability.
- Plans to pilot the use of Community Learning Centres for family learning could be used to test whole-family financial education interventions.
- Financial capability is threaded through Wales's current policies to tackle poverty, meaning this area of policy could be a fruitful route to strengthen financial education, for example by identifying good practice in the use of the Pupil Development Grant to support disadvantaged children and young people's financial capability, and incorporating financial capability into of the Flying Start programme for young families in disadvantaged areas.

Policy opportunities in context

These policy opportunities must be considered within the context of the wider political, economic, social, technological, legal and environmental trends affecting children and young people's everyday (and financial) lives. The increasing use of online platforms and the expansion of financial technology, the increase in the number of vulnerable children and young people and the complexity of their needs, and trends around a young person's transition into adulthood should all be taken into account in the design and delivery of financial education curricula and interventions.

Coverage of financial education across school curricula in the UK nations provides a positive context in which to strengthen delivery. However, busy timetables, stretched resources and increasing autonomy of schools in some nations could pose a challenge to ensuring schools prioritise the delivery and quality of their financial teaching. Taking advantage of government policy targeting support to vulnerable young people – such as care experienced children – will require consideration of the priorities and ways of working of local authorities managing reduced resources and increasing demand.

Despite these challenges, recent developments in the financial capability sector, and specifically among organisations working to improve children and young people's money skills, provide an increasingly sound basis from which to take advantage of current policy opportunities. The new single financial guidance body, established under the Financial Guidance and Claims Act 2018, has a clear mandate to work with others to support a national strategy to improve the provision of financial education to children and young people. Furthermore, the sector's understanding of children and young people's financial education needs, what is available across the country and what approaches are effective is more robust than it has ever been.

These developments put the financial capability sector in a strong position to develop and deliver an effective strategy for children and young people's money skills. Our CYP Financial Capability Commissioning Plan will use the analysis in this report, alongside findings from our Provision, Evidence, and Needs Analyses, to set out how we believe this can best be achieved.

Introduction

One of the five strategic aims of the Money Advice Service is to improve the ability of children and young people to manage their money and make good financial decisions. Coordinating a national strategy to improve the provision of financial education to children and young people is also a key function of the new single financial guidance body, established by the Financial Guidance and Claims Act 2018. In 2018-19, we will be publishing a commissioning plan, setting out the actions we will take to meet our ambition and deliver on this statutory responsibility.

Purpose of this report

This policy landscape analysis aims to set out the context for the development and delivery of our children and young people commissioning plan. Primarily, it provides an analysis of the relevant policy frameworks across the UK, identifying potential levers to improve the delivery of financial education to children and young people. It identifies and analyses current and emerging national policies and programmes which *are* facilitating, or *have the potential to* facilitate, the development of financial capability among children and young people.

The report also provides some consideration of the wider trends affecting children and young people's financial capability that may affect these policy opportunities. However, its content will be considered alongside other analyses. These include the *Children's and Young People's Financial Capability: needs analysis*, which provides an overview of evidence about children and young people's financial capability needs including wider demographic and social trends, as well as MAS's continuing horizon scanning to inform its work across the financial capability agenda.

The insights from this report are not recommendations and do not represent the future priorities of the Money Advice Service or the single financial guidance body. Instead, the opportunities and risks presented will *inform* the development of our commissioning plan for improving children and young people's capability. A diagram showing how these reports will feed into the CYP Commissioning Plan is set out at *Appendix A*.

Our approach

In order to maintain a focus on areas where MAS and our partners could achieve the greatest level of impact, the review has focused on areas of policy that:

- Target children and young people –
 e.g. school curriculum, early years
 services, support for young people,
 special educational needs and
 disability
- Target children and young people within their families – e.g. family support
- Support (or have the potential to support) the delivery of financial education to older young people aged 16-17 and to younger children through their parents – e.g. welfare and homelessness support

Children and young people are defined as those aged 0-18, and up to 25 for vulnerable young people including care leavers and disabled young people. As many policy areas relating to this age group are devolved, the relevant policy frameworks for each of the four nations are outlined.

Activity undertaken to develop this landscape analysis included:

The identification of key policy areas for inclusion, drawing upon themes from MAS's Children and Young People's Financial Capability: Needs Analysis¹ – particularly the areas of children's lives where financial capability can feasibly be developed and specific characteristics that make a child vulnerable to having poor financial capability or in need of particular support

- Desk-based search for relevant and current policy initiatives relating to the policy areas identified above, across the UK and four nations.
 Sources included: UK government and devolved government/executive websites, UK Parliament and devolved Parliament/Assembly websites, public sector bodies taking forward government/executive policies (including arm's length bodies and non-departmental public bodies)
- Review and analysis of relevant legislation, policy documents, webpages and Ministerial statements
- In parallel with the above, using MAS's needs analysis and workshops with experts within and outside MAS to gather insights into the political, economic, social, technological, legal and environmental trends relating to children and young people's financial capability. This was followed by deskbased research to identify relevant evidence

 The development of options for influencing the policy landscape across the devolved nations to support a strengthened focus on children and young people's financial capability, taking into account the opportunities available and wider political, economic, social and technological trends.

Policy Opportunities in Context: A Brief Discussion of Wider Trends

While this report is primarily an analysis of the policy context relating to children and young people's financial capability, it is important to consider any emerging opportunities in the context of wider trends. So, in parallel with the policy analysis, workshops and desk-based research were used to gather some insights into the political, economic, social, technological, legal and environmental (PESTLE) trends relating to children and young people's financial capability. A summary of findings from this analysis, along with relevant sources, is provided in *Appendix B*.

The themes emerging from the brief PESTLE analysis set some significant challenges for organisations seeking to improve the financial capability of children and young people growing up in the UK. However, the trends also highlight some opportunities for engaging children, families, service leaders and politicians in the need for better financial education, and give us some clues as to how financial education provision could be shaped in the future. These challenges and opportunities will have to be borne in mind when taking advantage of current and emerging policy levers for improving children's financial education.

The financial capability sector and the wider public policy context

The Financial Guidance and Claims Act 2018 provides that one of the single financial guidance body's core functions is to work with others in the financial services industry, the devolved authorities and the public and voluntary sectors to support the co-ordination and development of a national strategy to improve the provision of financial education to children and young people. By the end of 2018, MAS will provide the most detailed picture to date of the financial needs of children and young people, the services and interventions available to meet those needs, evidence of what works and the gaps in provision. However, the devolution of responsibility for education and children, youth and family services, and the size, diversity and (in some nations) autonomy of the education sector, means that putting this evidence into practice will be a challenge.

Major policy issues, such as the UK leaving the European Union and the suspension of the power-sharing government in Northern Ireland, are likely to limit the ability of a range of social actors to achieve public policy focus on their priorities. Education leaders have shared their thinking on the impact the UK leaving the European Union could have on their sector, including in terms of resources, costs and recruitment. At the same time, the

concentration of funding for interventions coming from a small number of major donors puts provision at risk if funder priorities were to shift significantly.

Nevertheless, the financial capability sector is now in a strong position to develop and deliver a strategy for children and young people's money skills. This is underpinned by a strong mandate for the new single financial guidance body and a solid evidence base for developing effective, needs-led interventions.

Child and family

Children's and families' digital lives and financial technology: It is clear that fewer children are growing up associating money with physical notes and coins. The increase in the use of technology to manage and spend money - through online banking, online shopping and contactless payments – means that many children are experiencing money in a very different way to the generations before them. There are concerns that growing up experiencing primarily 'frictionless' spending will make it harder for children and young people to grasp the concepts of looking after their money, budgeting and saving. However, to date, little research has been undertaken in order to make conclusions about the impact of increasingly cashless transactions either on children's financial capability or on effective approaches to providing financial education.

Spending increasing amount of time online – while bringing possible benefits of social connection and autonomous access to information – can expose children and young people to greater pressures to spend through online advertising, in-game purchases and seeing idealised versions of others' lives on social media. They can be exposed to cyberfraud and financial exploitation if they do not have the knowledge, skills and habits to protect themselves. On the other hand, advances like online banking could provide an opportunity for children and young people to 'play' at and practice money management – in school and at home – in increasingly realistic ways. Money management apps already offer children and families the opportunity to practice their money skills in a digital environment.

Ever developing technology poses a challenge to educators seeking to give children and young people the money skills they need for the future. Responding to these trends, funders and providers of financial education will need to ensure that their curricula keep pace with technology and that approaches to financial education help children and young people become capable of managing their money in an increasingly cashless society and protecting themselves against new types of fraud and financial exploitation. At the same time, financial education provision will need to help young people think about the pressures to spend they face when engaging in the online world.

Vulnerability: Some children and young people are at greater risk of doing worse than their peers on measures of financial capability, or may need specific targeted financial capability support. Current trends suggest that financial education providers will have to continue to consider these vulnerabilities when developing and delivering interventions. The number of children growing up in poverty is increasing and there are high levels of debt in households with children – both factors linked to poorer financial capability. In all UK nations, apart from Scotland, there are more looked after children and young people than

before, a group at risk of having poor financial capability and who may need targeted support to prepare them earlier for financial independence. Similarly, the numbers of young carers and children and young people with complex needs – also in need of specific and targeted financial education – has increased.

Financial education providers and funders will need to take these vulnerabilities into account when planning programmes to improve children and young people's financial capability, reflecting the current pressures and risks facing children and young people and targeting effective learning opportunities to those with specific needs. In addition, if they are to have impact, efforts to communicate directly with parents and carers about good practice around financial capability – for example giving pocket money – will need to be sensitive to the financial pressures facing increasing numbers of families.

Changing understanding of growing up and the transition to adulthood: Children, young people and parents and carers, themselves, recognise the importance of financial education to children's lives and futures. However, traditional models of childhood and young people's transition into adulthood are being challenged. More young people are staying at home with their parents for longer and unable to enter the housing market. At the same time the introduction of university fees and reduction in maintenance support has put young people in significant levels of debt earlier in their lives. What is more, pension auto-enrolment means young people are having to make financial decisions about their future earlier than ever. Children are engaging in wider social networks and accessing information more independently at a younger age, through digital media, bringing the possible opportunities and risks discussed above. It is now well-known that the brain continues to develop beyond the early years into adolescence, bringing a greater understanding - and more questions - about how best to provide education to this age group.

Financial education curricula and approaches, including the identification of 'teachable moments', will need to be situated within the changing nature of 'growing up' in the UK today. While a delay in financial independence can inhibit opportunities for young people to practice and deepen financial skills gained at school and college, the need to make decisions about financing higher education and pension savings both provide an opportunity to engage young people. There is an opportunity to harness children's and parents' support for financial education to strengthen action at home, school and in the community.

School and learning

Financial education is incorporated into the statutory curriculum across all nations in the UK and across all phases, except in primary schools in England. However, the school curriculum and young people's learning routes are changing – with, for example, wholesale curriculum reform in Wales, an emphasis on apprenticeships and technical education across the country, and plans to reform relationships and sex and health education in England. At the same time, in some parts of the UK, there has been an increasing drive for greater school autonomy, seen particularly in England with the proliferation of Academies and free schools which do not need to follow a national curriculum. Schools face a challenge delivering enriching opportunities for children and young people, such as additional financial capability provision, with pressures on time and funding, particularly in England, Northern Ireland and Wales. The increasing use of technology in schools, however, means educators are better able to support children and young people to practice real-life skills, such as online banking.

Having financial education on the school curriculum in most phases across the UK is a welcome lever for those seeking to improve the financial capability of children and young people. However, organisations promoting and delivering financial education in schools will need to work closely with school leaders to understand the pressures they face and how effective financial education can be delivered within the context of a busy timetable and reduced resources. Reforms to national school curricula across the UK nations provide an opportunity to strengthen the inclusion of financial education, and wider learning around life skills, alongside more academic subjects. The increasing autonomy of schools in England, and moves to give schools greater freedom over their curriculum in Scotland, does pose a challenge to those seeking to influence school practice in a coherent and efficient way. However, these freedoms also provide greater scope for direct work with school leaders and groups of schools to shape a curriculum that develops children's money skills and supports the sharing of good practice.

The community

Across the UK, local council budgets are under increasing pressure, due to funding reductions and increasing demand for services. Wider patterns of geographic variation and inequality are reflected in the context of financial capability, with households in rural areas and in the north of England showing more signs of potential financial vulnerability, and those in urban areas and London more likely to be in financial difficulty. Researchers have suggested that children growing up in 'debtogenic' areas – with normalised and easy access to betting and pawn shops, alongside ATMs and sources of easy and costly credit – will have an impact on children and young people's financial capability and well-being, although further research is needed here.

Advocates, funders and promoters of more and better financial education may face barriers to engaging children's service leaders and practitioners, in the context of limited resources and increasing and more complex caseloads. However, opportunities like the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act could help to embed all-age financial capability in local council's planning for their communities. The financial capability sector's

increasing understanding of geographical variation in financial well-being and the potential impact of the local environment on children's financial attitudes and habits could be used to shape financial education provision to meet the specific needs and vulnerabilities of children and young people living in different parts of the UK.

The Current Policy Context across the UK and the Devolved Nations

This section – the main body of this report – reviews key policy initiatives relevant to the lives of children, young people and families, in order to identify opportunities to strengthen the focus on children's financial capability. Policy areas have been selected based on the key influencers on children and young people's money skills identified in MAS's children and young people's needs analysis. It therefore focuses on:

- Overarching legislative and policy frameworks
- Financial education in schools
- Services for young people
- Early education and childcare
- Family services
- Children in vulnerable circumstances
- Housing and welfare

Overarching legislative and policy frameworks

This section reviews the UK and devolved administrations' overarching strategies, including those focused on children and young people. It highlights governmental priorities that could aid, or potentially hinder, the promotion of children and young people's financial capability through government-led programmes and interventions.

England

The UK government does not have an overarching strategy for children and young people growing up in England. The Department for Education's single departmental plan does, however, set out priorities for children's services, education and post-16 learning and skills. Priorities relevant to the development of children and young people's financial capability at home, at school and in the community include:

- promoting the educational outcomes of disadvantaged children and young people
- improving government understanding of how to support parents to develop their children's learning at home
- delivering the new £7.7 million curriculum fund for the development of curriculum plans and content

- ensuring new relationships and sex education (RSE) and personal, social, health and economic education (PSHE) support young people to prepare for life
- delivering T-Levels (technical education) and continuing reforms to apprenticeships
- improving the quality of careers advice and guidance for children, young people and adults, and
- supporting local authorities to deliver high performing children's services.

Many of these priorities are explored further in the more detailed policy analysis below.

In the English context, responsibility for providing and/or commissioning children, young people and family services sits with local authorities. Local authorities also have responsibility for some schools in England (local authority-maintained schools), while Academies and free schools are funded and managed directly by the Department for Education, through Regional School Commissioners. Local authorities are also responsible for local public health services (including health visitors).

Northern Ireland

The Northern Ireland Executive's draft programme for government, published for consultation in October 2016, sets out its cross-cutting priorities including: improved quality in early education; engaging and supporting parents as children's first and ongoing educators; a regional approach to developing children's pre-school development; a focus on looked after children (see below under 'children in care, care leavers and children in need'); shared coherent messages about what is valued in education; supporting schools to innovate and collaborate; and action to narrow the poverty-related attainment gap.

In December 2016, the Northern Ireland Executive published a draft ten-year (2017-27) children and young people's strategy for consultation. The strategy identifies eight key outcomes for children and young people, and it is proposed that Executive Departments will be required to prepare plans to achieve these. Following publication of the draft strategy, power sharing arrangements were suspended, so a final strategy is yet to be confirmed. However, the key outcomes and associated indicators, as proposed², were not specifically relevant to financial capability. The indicators associated with the outcome 'children and young people learn and achieve' focus on early childhood development and level 2 and leaving school attainment in English and Maths. The Early Intervention Transformation Programme, a cross-government initiative, aims to embed early intervention approaches across a range of children and family services in order to improve outcomes³.

The Executive has a financial capability strategy running from 2013 to 2018⁴, which included commitments to consider the extent to which financial capability is embedded in the further and higher education experience and commission a review of the effectiveness and impact of the financial capability programme in schools within the revised curriculum. This review is still due to take place.

Responsibility for primary and secondary education and youth services in Northern Ireland sits with the Department of Education and the Education Authority (EA), a non-departmental body sponsored by the Department of Education. Responsibility for children's, social and health services lies primarily with the Department of Health, the national Health and Social Care Board and local health and social care trusts.

Scotland

Getting it right for every child (GIRFEC) is the Scottish government's national approach to improving outcomes for children and young people by offering the right help at the right time from the right people. It is grounded in: a shared understanding of child well-being as confident individuals, effective contributors, responsible citizens and successful learners; all children having access to a 'named person' to make sure they get the help they need; a single planning framework for children who need extra help (the 'Child's Plan) and a lead professional to oversee the development and delivery of that plan; and requirements around information sharing to promote children's well-being and safety⁵. The Children and Young People Improvement Collaborative⁶ is the Scottish government's approach to improving early years, health and family services and schools, by supporting local authorities, health boards and charity sector providers to use Quality Improvement (QI) approaches in their services with the support of 10 QI advisers. It includes increasing access to financial advice for pregnant women on low incomes.

The most recent Scottish programme for government (2017-18)⁷ identifies a number of priorities relevant to the promotion of children and young people's financial capability, including: increasing the number of health visitors and ensuring all eligible first-time mothers benefit from the support of a Family Nurse Partnership; introducing the Best Start Grant for low income families with young children by summer 2019; publishing a National Action Plan on Parental Engagement

and Family Learning; preparation for the expansion of funded early learning and childcare; closing the attainment gap and raising standards in schools including through greater powers for headteachers and action to improve STEM teaching; and increasing the number of modern apprenticeships. Many of these priorities are explored further in the more detailed policy analysis below.

The Fairer Scotland Action Plan⁸, published in 2016, outlines fifty actions to tackle poverty and reduce inequality. Ending child poverty and supporting young people are the focus of two of the five objectives, with actions including: financial health checks for low income families, Best Start grants for families in the early years, industry experience schemes for schools, a youth entitlement smart card and ongoing support for out of work 16-24s, funding for disadvantaged children in school, and third sector early intervention projects for children, young people and families.

In Scotland, responsibility for providing and/or commissioning most children, young people and family services, including statefunded education provision, lies with local authorities. Education Scotland has national responsibility for developing the quality of learning and teaching.

Wales

The Welsh Government's overarching strategy for 2016-21, Taking Wales Forward⁹, sets out a number of priorities relevant to financial capability for children and young people, including: expansion of free childcare; creating at least 100,000 all-age apprenticeships; continuing work to promote financial inclusion; implementation of the Healthy Child Wales programme for children up to the age of seven and their families; positive parent programmes and Flying Start for disadvantaged families; implementing the extended Pupil Deprivation Grant, additional resources for schools' work with disadvantaged children and young people; focused work with children in care; development of the new school curriculum,

improving standards and closing the attainment gap; piloting the use of Community Learning Centres to provide childcare, parenting support and family learning; implementing a new system of support for children with additional learning needs; and improving digital competence among school pupils. Many of these priorities are explored further in the more detailed policy analysis below.

The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 marked a significantly new approach to national and local strategy and services, with an emphasis on long-term planning, prevention and collaboration. The Act:

- establishes in law seven shared 'wellbeing goals' for Wales. These are that Wales: is prosperous, is resilient, is healthier, is more equal, has cohesive communities, has a vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language and is globally responsible
- places a duty on a number of national and local public bodies – including the Welsh government, local authorities and local health boards – to set and publish well-being objectives, and take all reasonable steps to meet those objectives. The aim of the 'well-being objectives' is to maximise each public body's contribution to meeting the seven overarching well-being goals defined in the legislation
- establishes a Public Service Board in each local authority area in Wales (replacing voluntary Local Service Boards), made up of the local authority, the local health board, local fire and rescue services, the National Resources body for Wales and other invited national and local services. Public Service Boards must prepare and publish a plan setting out its objectives for delivering against the well-being goals and the steps it will take to achieve those objectives (a 'Local Well-being Plan'). The plan must be reviewed annually to assess progress. All Public Service Boards were expected to have their first plan in place by Spring 2018

- puts in place a 'sustainable development principle', which requires public bodies to ensure that, when carrying out their functions, they take into account the possible impact on people living in Wales in the future
- establishes a Future Generations
 Commissioner for Wales and their advisory panel to provide advice and hold public bodies accountable for meeting their duties to future generations
- requires the Welsh Government to develop national indicators for measuring progress towards achieving the wellbeing goals.

Statutory guidance provides further details on public bodies' duties under the Act¹⁰.

In Wales, local authorities have responsibility for providing and/or commissioning services for children, young people and families, including oversight of schools.

Overarching policy frameworks – the opportunities:

There are a number of policy frameworks, particularly across the devolved nations, which provide an opportunity to extend the provision of financial education for children and young people. Two key opportunities emerge in relation to the overarching policy frameworks in Northern Ireland and Wales.

- Currently only Northern Ireland is developing a single overarching strategy for children and young people. This development could provide an opportunity once devolved government is restored to embed the delivery of financial education across all spheres of children's lives. Northern Ireland's financial capability strategy comes to an end in 2018. Once power-sharing arrangements are restored, any development of a new strategy is an opportunity to further strengthen measures around children and young people's money skills.
- In Wales, the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act represents a shift in the policy framework around local service planning. There is the potential to strengthen local agencies' focus on financial well-being, and within that children and young people's financial capability, as this policy is further embedded, particularly by working with the Future Generations Commissioner as part of her advice, support and accountability functions.

Other opportunities relating to the UK governments' more specific policy frameworks are set out in the relevant sections below.

BOX 1: Children's rights and voices

The UK is a signatory to the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child¹¹, which sets out a range of universal rights for children including the right to education, the right to leisure and play, and the right to have their views taken into account in decisions that affect them.

The UK's four children's commissioners, one for each nation¹², are responsible for promoting and protecting the rights of children and young people. They are independent of their nation's government and Parliament. Priorities of the current Children's Commissioners include: digital safety (England), children in care (England), mental health (England, Northern Ireland); child poverty (Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales), educational inequality (Northern Ireland), corporal punishment (Scotland), domestic abuse (Scotland), bullying (Wales), play (Wales), safety (Wales) and transitions to adulthood (Wales). The Children's Commissioners tend to have enhanced responsibilities in relation to children and young people in and leaving care.

The UK Youth Parliament is one of the overarching mechanisms supporting the involvement of children and young people in decision-making. Operating across the UK, its UK-wide campaign focuses on the introduction of voting rights for 16 and 17 year-olds. Members of the Youth Parliament in England are also continuing to campaign for changes to the curriculum to ensure it prepares them for adult life, including learning about finances. Many local areas put in place mechanisms, sometimes facilitated by third sector organisations, to support the engagement of children and young people in local decision-making, for example children in care councils and the involvement of young people in participatory budgeting.

BOX 2: Approaches to commissioning across the UK's four nations

Responsibility for children, young people and family services tends to be devolved, which results in varying approaches to the commissioning of a range of services that could affect children's financial capability.

In England, commissioning is either led at the national level or devolved to local agencies, like local authorities and clinical commissioning groups. However, across one service area different arrangements can be in place – for example, with some schools being local authority-maintained and others funded directly by the Department for Education (Academies and free schools). Policy frameworks have sought to encourage: the use of a robust commissioning process (identifying need, planning and procuring services and monitoring quality); joint commissioning (for example, the introduction of local health and wellbeing boards and reforms to services for disabled children and those with special educational needs); financial innovation and the transfer of risk (for example, Payment by Results contracts in the youth justice system and social impact bonds for services for young homeless people); and better use of evidence (for example, through the What Works Centres). There has been an increasing tendency for a purchaser-provider split, with, for example, local authorities funding third parties to provide services for children in care and care leavers. Within England, some policy and commissioning functions have been devolved to the city regions (for example, the Greater Manchester Combined Authority).

In the devolved nations public services continue to be planned and delivered in more traditional ways. The 'purchaser-provider split' is often absent, meaning local authorities are

often directly providing the services they are funded to secure. The process of 'commissioning' is less developed, and trends and innovations seen in England, such as a focus on 'what works' and payment by results or social impact bonds, have varied in take-up. On the other hand, there are examples of these approaches now being explored in the devolved nations – for example, in 2016, the Welsh Government launched the Welsh Well-being Bond to fund the NHS, local authorities and the third sector to develop services, to be paid for by subsequent savings to the public purse.

Financial education in schools

Despite the inclusion of financial education in the curriculum, research by MAS found that 40% of children and young people say they learned about managing money at school. However, children and young people who do report having received some financial education in school are more likely to save frequently, have a bank account and be confident managing money. In addition to this, cognitive skills and educational attainment in childhood, particularly in maths, are strongly and positively linked to levels of financial capability in childhood and adulthood. So there is clearly a role for schools in supporting their students to be financially capable. This section looks at relevant education policy frameworks in place and under development, focusing on the school curriculum and school improvement and inspection.

The school curriculum

Coverage of financial education in the national curricula varies across the UK, so this section outlines the approach taken in each of the devolved nations.

England's school curriculum

Every state-funded school in England, including Academies and free schools, must offer a broad and balanced curriculum, which: promotes the spiritual, moral, cultural, mental and physical development of pupils at the school and of society, and – significantly for financial capability – prepares pupils for the opportunities, responsibilities and experiences of later life¹³.

The national curriculum for England sets out programmes of study that must be taught by all local-authority-maintained schools. It is important to note that, unlike in the devolved nations, 35 per cent of schools in England are Academies or free schools that are not required to follow the national curriculum in full (and almost half of pupils are being taught in these schools)14. However, many of these more autonomous schools will use the curriculum, at least in part, to guide their programmes of learning. So, an analysis of this curriculum is a useful basis for understanding incentives for the provision of financial education to all pupils in England's statefunded schools.

Financial education is not a required programme of study in the **primary** curriculum in England (key stages 1 and 2, age 5 to 11 years). However the **mathematics** programme of study includes reference to financial contexts, including: learning about a range of measures including money, recording money and using £ and p symbols, using coins, doing sums to give change, and understanding the use of decimals and fractions in the context of money.

Since September 2014, financial education has been a statutory part of the **secondary** curriculum¹⁵ in England, incorporated into **citizenship education** for key stages 3 and 4¹⁶. One of the key aims of the citizenship curriculum is to enable pupils to manage their money on a day-to-day basis and plan for future financial needs. More specifically, pupils should be taught about:

- the functions and uses of money, the importance and practice of budgeting, and managing risk – during key stage 3 (age 11 to 14 years)
- income and expenditure, credit and debt, insurance, savings and pensions, financial products and services, and how public money is raised and spent – during key stage 4 (age 14-16 years)

As in the primary phase, the secondary mathematics curriculum requires schools to enable students to apply maths learning to financial contexts. This curriculum requires schools to teach pupils to develop their use of formal mathematical knowledge to interpret and solve problems, including in financial mathematics, for example learning about interest.

Currently, all schools in England are expected, but not required by law, to provide pupils with personal, social, health and economic education (PSHE)17 across the primary and secondary phases. Non-statutory guidance on PSHE states that the Government expects schools "to use their PSHE education programme to equip pupils with a sound understanding of risk and with the knowledge and skills necessary to make safe and informed decisions"18. Schools are referred to the PSHE Association for more detailed guidance on PSHE provision, which makes reference to topics relating to financial capability. Learning about spending and saving (as part of having a balanced lifestyle) and economic understanding (as part of careers) is included within the overarching concepts of the curriculum. More specifically, financial capability is covered under Core Theme 3, Living in the Wider World (covering

economic well-being, careers and the world of work), including learning about:

- where money comes from, keeping it safe, the importance of managing it effectively and the part it plays in people's lives – key stages 1 and 2
- learning about how personal financial choices can affect oneself and others and about rights and responsibilities as consumers – key stages 3 and 4
- learning about student finance and budgeting on a salary (in addition to further learning on the themes in key stages 3 and 4) – key stage 5

In addition, local authority-maintained secondary schools are required to provide **relationships and sex education (RSE)**, having regard to statutory guidance which dates back to 2000¹⁹. Academies do not have to provide RSE, but must also have regard to guidance if they do so. The guidance makes no specific reference to financial capability in the context of relationships, but includes relevant elements such as "developing critical thinking as part of decision-making"

The Children and Social Work Act 2017 placed a duty on the Secretary of State for Education to bring forward regulations to make relationships education (RE) compulsory in the primary schools and relationships and sex education (RSE) compulsory in the secondary schools. This will apply to local authoritymaintained, Academies and independent schools. The Act also gave the Secretary of State the power to make PSHE or elements of PSHE statutory. Following consultation, the government has published draft regulations and guidance for schools on mandatory RE/RSE and health education content²⁰, which all schools will have to deliver from September 2020. While the guidance does not make financial education mandatory as part of a PSHE curriculum, the Secretary of State for Education has committed to supporting improvement in this area and encourages schools to continue to teach the compulsory content as part of a comprehensive programme²¹.

In January 2018, the Department for Education launched a £7.7 million curriculum fund to engage 'cultural and scientific institutions' in the development of new teaching resources²². Since 2014, high-performing schools and colleges have worked through a network of 35 Maths Hubs to share good practice in maths teaching from the early years to post-16 learning²³.

Northern Ireland's school curriculum

In Northern Ireland, financial capability is included in the statutory national curriculum from the foundation stage (age 4), primarily through Mathematics and Numeracy. (See below for further detail on the pre-school curriculum). The curriculum is overseen by the Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment (CCEA).

One of the three overarching objectives of the curriculum in Northern Ireland is to enable young people to develop as "contributors to the economy and environment". In doing so, teachers are expected to help children to learn to:

- in the primary phase: manage their money and build up savings; interpret information in order to make informed choices as consumers; and develop an understanding of the importance of using resources carefully in the classroom, and
- at key stage 3: understand the economic interdependence of individuals, organisations and communities locally and globally; critically examine how wealth is created and distributed; make balanced and informed economic judgements; be discerning and effective consumers; and plan and manage personal finances effectively.

In the **primary curriculum**, the statutory requirements for the **Mathematics and Numeracy** area of learning aim to enable pupils to:

 at foundation stage: use money in various contexts; talk about things

- that they want to spend money on; understand the need to pay for goods; become familiar with coins in everyday use; talk about different ways to pay for goods; and use number skills in shopping activities.
- at key stage 1: recognise coins and use them in simple contexts; add and subtract money up to £10, use the conventional way of recording money, and use these skills to solve problems; talk about the value of money and ways in which it could be spent, saved and kept safe; talk about what money is and alternatives for paying; and decide how to spend money.
- at key stage 2: use the four operations to solve problems involving money; discuss the value of money, how to keep money safe, ways in which goods can be paid for and the need for budgeting; be able to plan and think ahead in terms of saving and spending money, prioritise spending with a limited supply of money, understand how to access best buys; and discuss foreign currency including the Euro²⁴.

In the **secondary curriculum** at key stage 3 (age 11-14), financial capability is included as a key subject strand in the **Mathematics and Numeracy** area of learning²⁵. Statutory requirements in the curriculum include enabling pupils, by applying mathematical skills in everyday financial planning and decision making, to develop and experience:

- knowledge and understanding of personal finance issues
- skills to enable competent and responsible financial decision making, and
- the application of mathematical skills to real life and work situations.

Demonstrating financial capability in a range of relevant everyday contexts is a key learning outcome from this subject strand.

There are also requirements to cover elements of financial education in other key stage 3 statutory subject strands:

- Learning for Life and Work Home Economics, which requires schools to provide pupils with opportunities to: develop a range of skills to promote independence through planning, managing and using resources; investigate a range of factors that influence consumer choices and decisions; and investigate consumer rights, responsibilities and support
- Modern Languages, which requires schools to provide pupils with opportunities to enhance awareness of money matters in target language regions, and
- Music, which requires schools to provide pupils with opportunities to develop economic awareness, such as spending money on music.

The Entitlement Framework (EF) is Northern Ireland's **post-14 curriculum**, which guarantees pupils access to a minimum number of courses at Key Stage 4 and post-16, at least one third general and one third applied²⁶. At key stage 4 (age 14-16), financial capability is incorporated into a number of GCSE subjects, including:

- GCSE Mathematics e.g. application of maths to simple and compound interest, currency exchange, credit cards, hire purchase, bank accounts, overdrafts and mortgages
- GCSE Home Economics e.g. personal and household budgets, consumer choices, rights and responsibilities
- GCSE Economics e.g. financial products and services, risk and return, personal finances
- GCSE Business Studies e.g. management accounting techniques
- GCSE Learning for Life and Work e.g. the relationship between income and spending, household budgets and credit/debt.

In addition, a dedicated **financial capability microsite²⁷**, provided by CCEA, gives teachers

advice and resources on incorporating the subject across the other main areas of learning. For example, in key stages 1 and 2 (age 6-11), financial capability is incorporated into learning around:

- language and literacy e.g. talking and telling stories about losing money or keeping it safe, discussing spending choices, writing a shopping list with prices, discussing advantages and disadvantages of pocket money, using the internet to compare prices, reading shopping receipts, and writing an advert with hints on saving money
- the arts e.g. role play involving money negotiations between children and parents, and talking about balancing needs and wants
- personal development and mutual understanding – e.g. the consequences of losing money for oneself and others, keeping money safe, taking responsibility for money and understanding that it is limited, foreign currency, earning and spending money, conflict relating to money, consumers and advertising.

Similarly, the microsite recommends that, in key stage 3 (age 11-14), financial capability can be incorporated into learning around:

- language and literacy (English with Media Education) – e.g. exploring issues related to economic awareness, such as the implications of financial difficulties on a character in a book
- personal development (part of learning for life and work) – e.g. personal responsibility, morals, values and beliefs relating to spending, borrowing and saving; influences of peer pressure media, anxieties on spending; stress resulting from poor money management; and understanding resilience in the context of financial challenges/shocks
- local and global citizenship (part of learning for life and work) – e.g. poverty, social disadvantage and inequality, improving local services and spaces

 education for employability (part of learning for life and work) – e.g. enterprise education, understanding work and employment opportunities in the local area, earnings and lifestyle, financial implications of career changes.

In key stage 4 (age 14-16), financial capability can also be incorporated into learning around:

- thinking skills and personal capabilities – e.g. considering their future financial decisions such as choosing a mortgage and dealing with debt
- attitudes and dispositions e.g. personal responsibility and community spirit (giving to charities)
- learning for life and work (non-GCSE)

 e.g. managing finances, household
 budgets, consumer credit, rights and
 responsibilities and debt.

Scotland's school curriculum

Scotland's Curriculum for Excellence²⁸ overseen by Education Scotland, was implemented in 2010 covering nursery to secondary education. The overarching aims of the curriculum are to build the capacities of young people to be: successful learners; confident individuals; responsible citizens; and effective contributors.

One of the four key aims of the broad general education phase (age 3-14 years) is for children and young people to develop skills for learning, skills for life and skills for work. Financial capability is incorporated more specifically in the 'mathematics' and 'numeracy across learning' curriculum areas. These areas of learning aim, in part, to enable students to understand that successful independent living requires financial awareness and effective money management. The stream of teaching around money aims to enable pupils to:

 develop awareness of how money is used and recognise and use a range of coins – in reception/early level (age 4-5)

- use money to pay for items, work out change and investigate different combinations of coins and notes – in P2-4/first level (ages 5-8)
- manage money, compare costs, determine what one can afford to buy; understand the costs, benefits and risks of using bank cards to purchase goods or obtain cash; understand the importance of budgeting; make simple profit/loss calculations and use these terms in buying and selling activities – in P5-P7/second level (ages 8-11)
- source, compare and contrast different contracts and services, discuss their advantages and disadvantages, and explain which offer best value for money; to manage money and plan for future expenses by budgeting effectively using technology and other methods

 in S1-S3/third level (ages 11-14²⁹)
- discuss and illustrate facts to consider when determining what is affordable in order to manage credit and debt; source information on earnings and deductions and use it to determine net income; research, compare and contrast personal finance products and use calculations to determine choices – in S1-S3/fourth level (ages 11-14)

In this phase, financial learning is also incorporated into the 'social studies' curriculum, mainly in the context of business and enterprise. The aims of this area of learning include enabling pupils to engage in activities which encourage 'enterprising attitudes' and develop their understanding of concepts that stimulate enterprise and influence business. More specific aims for pupils include:

 exploring how local shops, services and organisations provide people with what they need; working out the amount of money needed to buy items; and understanding the concept of not being able to afford what one

- wants in reception/early level and P2-4/first level (age 4-8)
- exploring ethical trading, people's basic needs around the world and whether those needs are met; and identifying essential goods and services and exploring the different ways to pay for them – in P5-P7/second level (ages 8-11)
- budgeting, managing finance, investment, savings, risks and borrowing – in S1-S3/third level (ages 11-14³⁰)
- evaluating the suitability of finance options for setting up and supporting different types of businesses; evaluating, preparing and presenting financial information and documents to assist in making appropriate financial decisions; and critically examining how economic factors influence individuals, businesses or communities in S1-S3/fourth level (ages 11-14)

In the senior phase, numeracy and 'skills for learning, life and work' (e.g. employability, independent thinking, and enterprise and citizenship) are developed through all National Qualifications. A National Qualification in Lifeskills Mathematics includes managing money as essential units in National 3-5³¹.

The Scottish Government is currently conducting a review into personal and social education, including pastoral care and guidance and counselling, which is due to complete at the end of 2018³².

There are other educational initiatives which could have an impact on children and young people's financial capability. The Read, Write, Count campaign³³ aims to help parents of children in P1 to P3 (ages 4-7 years) support their child's literacy and numeracy. The campaign was extended into P4 to P7 (ages 7-11 years) in areas of high deprivation in 2017. The campaign suggests number games parents and carers can play with primary age children to help develop their numeracy skills.

Similarly, Making Maths Count³⁴ aims to build enthusiasm for maths amongst children and young people, their parents, carers and the wider public, and to support teachers and raise attainment in Mathematics National Qualifications.

Wales's school curriculum

As outlined in its education strategy, Education in Wales: Our national mission 2017-21, the Welsh Government is developing a new curriculum for children and young people aged 3 to 16 years³⁵. A proposed new curriculum will be published for consultation by April 2019, with plans to publish a final version in January 2020 for roll-out starting with primary school and year 7 in 2022. The aim of the new curriculum is better to equip young people for life, and the government hopes it will be relevant to the digital world, give teachers more freedom and incorporate assessment for learning. The aims of the new curriculum will be to support children and young people to be: ambitious, capable learners, ready to learn throughout their lives; enterprising, creative contributors, ready to play a full part in life and work; ethical, informed citizens of Wales and the world; and healthy, confident individuals, ready to lead fulfilling lives as valued members of society.

The new curriculum will be made up of six 'Areas of Learning and Experience' plus three cross-curricular responsibilities: literacy, numeracy and digital competence. The latest progress update setting out current thinking on the curriculum indicates that financial literacy will be given significant prominence in the mathematics and numeracy area of learning, and further work is underway to achieve that³⁶. Thus far, it is proposed that this area of learning will give pupils understanding of personal, local, national and international finance, and knowledge and skills to manage personal finance and budgeting.

In the current curriculum for **primary schoolage children** financial capability is primarily included in the **mathematical development** area of learning. The aim is to enable pupils to:

- use coins to pay for items in reception, use combinations of coins and calculate totals and change in Years 1 & 2 – in the foundation phase (age 3-7 years)
- use different combinations of money to pay for items and calculate change; add and subtract totals; use correct financial notation; manage money – comparing costs of items and calculating what can be purchased within budget; record money spent and saved; and carry out mathematical operations in the context of money – in the first part of key stage 2 (ages 7-9)
- plan and track money and savings; realise that budgeting is important; use the terms, and calculate, profit and loss in buying and selling activities; understand the advantages and disadvantages of using bank accounts; and make comparisons between prices and understand which is best value for money – in the second part of key stage 2 (ages 9-11)

In the current curriculum for **secondary school-age students**, the **mathematical development** area of learning aims to enable pupils to:

 use profit and loss in buying and selling calculations; understand the advantages and disadvantages of using bank accounts, including bank cards; make informed decisions relating to discounts and special offers; carry out calculations relating to VAT, saving and borrowing; appreciate the basic principles of budgeting, saving (including understanding compound interest) and borrowing; calculate using foreign money and exchange rates; understand the risks involved in different ways of saving and investing;

- and describe why insurance is important in key stage 3 (ages 11-14)
- understand and demonstrate the reallife process of foreign exchange; consider best value of an item priced in two or more different currencies; calculate compound interest; make comparisons between financial products that involve short-term and short-term borrowing and investments; calculate with money, including household bills; make informed decisions relating to household budgeting; understand and calculate income tax – in key stage 4 (ages 14-16)

To support teachers better to embed literacy and numeracy into all subjects, the Welsh Government launched the National Literacy and Numeracy Framework for children aged 5-14 years in October 2014³⁷. This includes a set of learner outcomes relating to managing money.

Financial capability is also included in the **personal and social education** framework – supporting pupils at Key Stage 2 to understand that money is earned through work and can buy goods and services, the importance of looking after their money and the benefits of regular saving³⁸. For 14-19 year-olds, the Learning Pathways 14-19 guidance aims to engage learners, improve attainment and prepare learners for employment, with courses and support services such as careers advice and guidance³⁹.

The Welsh Government has also developed materials to support schools in providing primary and secondary pupils with financial education⁴⁰ (including training material for those delivering financial education), along with guidance on financial education for 7 to 19 year-olds in Wales⁴¹.

School curriculum – the opportunities:

Financial education is included in the national curriculum, and across all phases, except for primary education in England. In England, the subject is covered in citizenship and maths and non-statutory PSHE. Northern Ireland's curriculum has relatively comprehensive coverage of financial education across the curriculum with dedicated advice and resources for teachers. In Scotland, the subject is woven throughout the curriculum from reception but stopping at the senior phase. Like Northern Ireland, Wales's coverage in the curriculum is very comprehensive, particularly in key stages 2-4, and the Welsh Government has made a commitment to retain this focus in the new curriculum.

There are clear opportunities across the UK to improve financial education through the school curricula:

- In **England**, financial education continues to be non-statutory in primary schools, a clear gap in the curriculum coverage across the UK. The decision not to produce a statutory programme of study for PSHE, focusing instead on health education, limits opportunities to strengthen requirements for schools in this area of learning. Nevertheless, the curriculum changes that the government will be taking forward could be an opportunity to strengthen the links between RSE, health education and financial capability.
- In Scotland, work with Education Scotland, the Scottish Government and groups of schools could help to ensure greater curriculum freedoms for headteachers help to strengthen, and not weaken, financial education provision. The Government's review of personal and social education is also an opportunity to embed financial education further.
- In **Wales**, the development and implementation of a new curriculum provides an opportunity to strengthen the coverage of financial education.
- In **Northern Ireland**, the review of financial education provision in schools, promised in the Financial Capability Strategy, could be an opportunity to strengthen delivery.

School improvement and inspection

School improvement in England

In late 2016, the Department for Education consulted on proposals to drive school improvement through collaboration between state-funded schools and independent schools and Universities, and the expansion of selective state-funded (grammar) schools. In its consultation response in 2018, the Department confirmed the latter proposal will not be taken forward. Instead, it announced: the establishment of more formal agreements with grammar school leaders to ensure they widen access to their schools and support local non-selective schools, and the establishment of a Systems Partnership Unit to support the development of partnerships between state and independent schools.

As part of its social mobility through education strategy, Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Potential (see below under 'poverty, inequality and social mobility'), the government is taking forward school improvement activity targeted at narrowing the attainment gap between pupils growing up in disadvantaged areas and their peers. Actions include: better incentives to attract and retain the best teachers in challenging areas; growing Multi-Academy Trusts (which oversee groups of academies) that have been shown to support school improvement; expanding the coverage of Teaching Schools; £300 million for evidence-based school improvement support in underperforming schools; more access to curriculum support in challenging areas and schools; opening more free schools in disadvantaged areas; and work with the Education Endowment Foundation to

improve the use of the pupil premium (addition funding for schools to support disadvantaged pupils).

School improvement in Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland's policy for school improvement, *Every School a Good School*, dates back to 2009⁴². However, the Executive's draft strategy for children and young people includes objectives for improving children's education – including ensuring that the education of children and young people is valued and child-centred and children and young people are the focus of the education system – and Departments will be developing plans against these.

School improvement in Scotland

In June 2017, the Scottish government announced its plans to establish six Regional Improvement Collaboratives⁴³ to provide educational improvement support for headteachers, teachers and practitioners. These new teams are made up of representatives of Education Scotland, local authorities and others, and are required to deliver an annual regional plan for their area, aligned with the National Improvement Framework⁴⁴, and to facilitate collaborative working and sharing of good practice across the region. Each collaborative is led by a Regional Director, reporting to the HM Chief Inspector/Chief Executive of Education Scotland.

At the end of 2017, the Scottish government consulted on proposed reforms to the education system, including plans for a Bill giving head teachers, as opposed to local authorities, greater powers over the local curriculum through a Headteachers' Charter, and putting Regional Improvement Collaboratives on a statutory footing. However, in June 2018 the Education Secretary announced that he will not introduce such a Bill but instead work collaboratively with Scottish local authorities to implement measures to empower schools⁴⁵.

School improvement in Wales

Since September 2012, local authorities (responsible for school improvement) have worked to improve the quality of education provision through four regional education consortia⁴⁶. These consortia were formally constituted in 2014, through the National Model for Regional Working⁴⁷, a framework for school improvement which emphasises the engagement of schools and the use of self-evaluation to identify and plan improvements and review impact.

Education in Wales: our national mission 2017-21 brings together the Welsh Government's vision for its education system and actions to be taken in 2017-21 in order to implement successfully the new curriculum. Plans include: strengthening initial teacher education and continuing professional learning; establishing a National Academy for Educational Leadership; expanding the Pupil Development Grant (see below under' poverty, inequality and social mobility'); identifying approaches to measuring and improving pupil well-being; implementation of reforms for pupils with additional learning needs (see below under 'Disabled children and those with SEN'); provision of high quality independent careers advice and guidance; development of revised assessment, evaluation and accountability arrangements; and supporting collaborations within and between schools, regional consortia and higher education institutions.

School inspection

None of the UK's school inspection frameworks require assessment of the school's contribution to pupils' financial capability specifically. However, where financial education is covered in the curriculum, this will be reflected in the school inspection, and some frameworks do make reference to the wider social development of children and young people:

 In England and Wales, inspection frameworks of Ofsted and Estyn (respectively) require inspectors to evaluate the effectiveness and impact of

- the provision for pupils' spiritual, moral, social and cultural development⁴⁸
- In Northern Ireland, Education and Training Inspectorate's inspection framework asks whether pupils are demonstrating effective personal and social skills⁴⁹
- In Scotland, Education Scotland's inspection framework addresses the effectiveness of the school in providing good opportunities to develop pupil's skills for learning, life and work in motivating contexts⁵⁰.

School improvement – the opportunities:

Policy trends across the nations reflect an emphasis on school-led improvement, regional partnerships and narrowing the attainment gap between disadvantaged children and their peers.

- Regional approaches in Scotland and Wales (Regional Improvement Collaboratives and regional educational consortia, respectively) provide a route to engaging with groups of schools to develop their financial education provision and support sharing of good practice.
- Wales is currently in a period of strategic focus on educational improvement with its 'national mission' strategy and the development and implementation of a new curriculum, providing for a potential public policy focus on wider skills development including financial capability.
- In **England**, school improvement activity is anchored in an emphasis on social mobility through education. Therefore, strategies for promoting financial education should highlight the role of such learning in improving outcomes and experiences for disadvantaged young people.

Services for young people

A young person planning for their future – be that leaving school, going onto higher or further education or entering employment – is an opportunity to engage them in activities to develop their financial capability. Similarly, this can be a period of risk, where a young person can make money mistakes as they gain more independence over their spending and finances. Schools can play a leading role in supporting young people at this time, as outlined above. However, a wider range of services, including youth services, further education providers, advisers and employers, can also be an important source of information, advice and guidance. This section therefore outlines relevant policy developments across the four nations of the UK relating to the provision of services and opportunities to young people.

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice in England

Post-16 skills: In July 2016, the Government published its Post-16 Skills Plan, setting out its ambition to give every 16 year-old a choice between further academic (A Level) study or

technical education. The plan aims to introduce a common framework of 15 routes across all technical education, including both college- and employer-based (apprenticeships) learning, with an emphasis on the involvement of employers in the development of all training routes. A key element of the reforms is the introduction of T-Levels, 2 year technical study programmes for 16 to 19 year olds that include a

qualification and an industry placement (i.e. classroom learning alongside an apprenticeship). The first T Levels will be rolled out from September 2020 (construction, digital and education & childcare), with further courses rolled out in stages from 2021 (including finance and accounting, engineering and manufacturing, and creative design). Apprenticeships and T Levels are based on employer-designed standards, overseen by the Institute of Apprenticeships, established in April 2017⁵¹. Draft content for the first T Levels refers to the provision of 'employability, enrichment and pastoral requirements', but does not specifically refer to financial education⁵².

Unlocking talent, fulfilling potential⁵³, the Department for Education's social mobility strategy, includes specific action to improve the quality of further education for disadvantaged young people, including: a Strategic College Improvement Fund; investment in further education leaders and new Institutes of Technology; and a new transition year for 16- year-olds not ready for more advanced study or employment.

Apprenticeships: The Government's strategy for increasing the quality and quantity of apprenticeships, published in December 2015⁵⁴, sets out an ambition to reach three million apprenticeship starts by 2020. Actions included: giving employers greater input into setting apprenticeship standards, establishing the employer-led Institute for Apprenticeships (which now also has wider responsibility for technical education, see above), action to attract more women and black, Asian and minority ethnic young people into apprenticeships, and the introduction of a UKwide levy to fund apprenticeships in April 2017. In 2017, the Department for Education published an update on progress against the strategy along with further detail on the outcomes it aims to achieve⁵⁵.

Careers advice: Schools are under a duty to secure independent careers guidance for all pupils in years 8 to 13⁵⁶. In December 2017, the Department for Education launched an all-

age careers strategy⁵⁷, which included measures targeted at careers advice for children and young people at school: a named careers leader in every school and college by September 2018; testing the impact of 20 'career hubs' linking together schools, colleges, universities and other local organisations; evaluation of new approaches to careers provision, including understanding what careers activities work in primary school; guaranteeing all schools access to an Enterprise Adviser by the end of 2020; and guaranteeing all pupils seven encounters with employers from years 7 to 13 by the end 2020. The Careers & Enterprise Company (CEC), established in 2014, provides the strategic coordinating function for employers, schools, colleges, funders and providers around careers and enterprise support. In June 2018, it launched The Careers & Enterprise Fund, investing £4.2 million in employer encounters in deprived areas and targeted support for disabled young people and those with SEN, looked after children and care leavers and Gypsy, Roma and Traveller young people.

Updated statutory guidance for schools⁵⁸, including Academies and free schools, on the provision of careers guidance structures the guidance around the Gatsby Charitable Foundation's Benchmarks for good careers guidance in secondary school: a stable careers programme; learning from career and labour market information; addressing the needs of each pupil; linking curriculum learning to careers; encounters with employers and employees; experiences of workplaces; encounters with further and higher education; and personal guidance. The guidance makes no explicit reference to linking financial education with careers guidance.

University fees: In February 2018, the Prime Minister announced a review of post-18 education funding, to look at how future students will contribute to the cost of their studies. The review is due to report in early 2019⁵⁹.

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice in Northern Ireland

Post-16: The Northern Ireland Executive's youth training strategy⁶⁰, published in 2015, aims to provide an alternative route to employment, an apprenticeship or further education for young people aged 16-24. As part of the plans, young people would access a baccalaureate-style curriculum at level 2 (equivalent to five GCSEs) alongside workbased learning, and employers are engaged in the design and content of the offer. The offer includes wider pastoral and financial support, including careers advice. These youth training proposals are subject to a phased implementation from September 2017. Therefore, young people are still able to access Training for Success, the current programme offering skills and qualifications to prepare young people for work⁶¹. Eligible young people staying in education beyond the age of 16, or taking part in targeted youth training programmes, are entitled to an Education Maintenance Allowance⁶².

Apprenticeships: Northern Ireland's apprenticeships programme offers workbased training to young people aged 16-24. There is a separate apprenticeships framework for people aged 25+. Northern Ireland's most recent strategy for apprenticeships was published in 2014⁶³.

Careers advice: Northern Ireland's careers service has a partnership agreement with every school to provide careers advice and guidance to pupils. In 2016, the Department for Employment and Learning and Department for Education published an allage careers education and guidance five-year strategy (2015-20)⁶⁴. Key measures to deliver good quality careers education and guidance to children and young people included: establishing an accountability and quality assurance framework; improved access to work experience; improved face-to-face advice; and providing young people with an eportfolio for recording their employability activities.

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice in Scotland

Post-16: In May 2018, the Scottish Government published the report of The 15-24 Learner Journey Review⁶⁵, with a set of proposed actions aimed at: making it easier for young people to understand their learning and career choices; broadening the approach to education to engage more young people successfully; building collective leadership across the education and skills system; and monitoring system performance. It announced plans to consider further improvements to personal support for young people in schools, subject to the personal social education review. Other key actions include: an online learner account for young people to link skills and attributes to course choices; an online prospectus setting out the learning choices available; a joined up approach to the delivery of careers information, advice and guidance across schools, college and universities; and an improved offer at school for young people at risk of disengagement (including looked after children).

The review also confirmed the Scottish Government's commitment to the approach set out in its 2014-21 youth employment strategy, Developing the Young Workforce⁶⁶, which outlined a seven-year programme to improve youth employability, increase access to vocational qualifications and work-based learning, broaden routes into employment or further education and build stronger partnerships between schools, colleges and employer. The learner journey review announces plans to embed the expectations set out in *Developing the Young Workforce* into the curriculum by 2021. Eligible young people aged 16-19 who wish to continue learning are entitled to an Education Maintenance Allowance⁶⁷.

Apprenticeships: Modern Apprenticeships are available to young people aged 16-24, and some over 25 year-olds, providing work-based learning. Since 2016, young people aged 15-18 (in S5 and S6) are eligible to undertake a Foundation Apprenticeship, with work

experience and work-based learning alongside their school study. The government have committed to making 5,000 Foundation Apprenticeships available by 2019. Employers are engaged in the shaping and leadership of Scottish apprenticeships through the Scottish Apprenticeship Advisory Board⁶⁸.

Careers advice: Skills Development Scotland⁶⁹, the national skills agency, provides a careers service to Scottish schools (students and parents/carers), through locally-based skills advisers and online support⁷⁰. The framework for Scotland's careers information, advice and guidance service was published in 2011⁷¹; it does not make specific reference to financial capability support.

University fees: The Independent Review of Student Financial Support in Scotland⁷² published its recommendations for the Scottish Government in 2017, recommending: a minimum student income entitlement with a mix of bursary and loans; increases to student loan repayment thresholds and reductions to the write-off period; improved access to loans for further education; face-to-face support and a centralised online advice and support; and consistent guidance and communications with prospective students and parents/carers including local support to help navigate the system.

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice in Wales

Post-16: The youth engagement and progression framework⁷³, established in 2013-14, aims to reduce the number of young people not in education, employment or training (NEET) when they leave school at 16. It is led by local authorities working with

Careers Wales, youth services, schools, providers of post-16 education and training and the voluntary sector. The framework introduced two new offers: allocation of a lead worker to young people most at-risk of becoming NEET to ensure the delivery of coordinated support; and the Youth Guarantee, which aims to ensure every young person has access to a suitable place in education or training post-16. Eligible young people who wish to continue learning beyond the age of 16 are entitled to an Education Maintenance Allowance⁷⁴.

Apprenticeships: Modern Apprenticeships and Foundation Modern Apprenticeships in Wales are available for anyone aged 16+ not in full-time education. The Welsh Government's apprenticeships policy and five-year action plan⁷⁵, published 2017, prioritises work to increase the take-up of apprenticeships among 16-19 year-olds and integrate apprenticeships into the wider education system. Jobs Growth Wales provides a six months opportunity in a paid job for young people aged 16-24 not already in full-time education, employment or work-based learning programme⁷⁶.

Careers advice: 'Careers and the world of work' is a curriculum framework⁷⁷ for 11-19 year-olds (part of the school curriculum for 11 to 16 year-olds and one of the requirements of the Learning Core of learning pathways for 14-19 year-olds) to help students develop their awareness of careers and how their studies will help them prepare for working life. Careers Wales supports schools to provide this curriculum, including facilitating engagement between schools and employers.

Post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers advice – the opportunities:

Across the UK, governments are focused on improving their offer of apprenticeships and vocational and technical education. Key opportunities to incorporate financial education into these interventions as young people begin their transition to adulthood include:

- In **England**, the development of the core content of the new T Levels (technical education qualifications)
- In England, the implementation of the careers advice strategy, particularly linking financial education in primary schools with activity to test effective careers provision for younger pupils
- In Northern Ireland, the implementation of the youth training strategy, Generating our Success
- In Scotland, building financial education into the post-16 and work-based learning offer when taking forward actions from the Learner Journey Review and further implementation of Developing the Young Workforce.
- In **Wales**, the new five-year apprenticeships plan, including the intention to incorporate apprenticeships into the wider curriculum.

In **England** and **Scotland**, reviews of arrangements for university fees are an opportunity to incorporate good quality financial education into advice and guidance around paying for further education and university.

Youth services

Youth services can offer a route to inform learning about practical life skills, particularly for young people who may be less engaged in formal education.

Youth services in England

In England, national policy relating to services for young people is centred around three programmes: the National Citizen Services; the dormant accounts youth fund; and the Youth Investment Fund.

The National Citizen Service (NCS) programme was launched in 2011 with the aim of giving all 16 and 17 year-olds in England the opportunity to take part in action to improve their communities and develop skills for independent life and employment. It is estimated that 93,000 young people took part in the programme in 2016, taking part in a 3-4 week course which aims to bring together young people from different backgrounds and includes: outdoor activities; work to develop confidence and leadership and communication skills; and the delivery of a social action project. Overseen by the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and

Sport (DDCMS), NCS was placed on a statutory footing in April 2017, through the National Citizen Service Act 2017 which: allows for the NCS Trust, which runs the programme, to be given a Royal Charter; allows government to provide grant-in-aid funding to the NCS Trust; requires the NCS Trust to publish a business plan at the start of each year and produce annual accounts and an Annual Report; and promotes NCS by giving Government the power to send a letter to young people as they turn 16 on behalf of the NCS Trust.

Under the dormant accounts youth fund, £90 million from dormant bank accounts will be distributed by the Big Lottery Fund in partnership with the DDCMS, the Department for Education (DfE) and the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). The funds will be invested in programmes aimed at supporting young people facing barriers to entering work, particularly those from some black and minority ethnic backgrounds⁷⁸. Other barriers to employment included within scope include mental and physical ill health, caring responsibilities, substance misuse, homelessness, criminal convictions, and being

a care leaver. The programme intends to focus upon: personal circumstances such as health, access to transport and digital tools, and caring responsibilities; attitudes, emotional capability, and employability skills; qualifications, experience and career management; and building strong links to employers to provide routes into work. Building on Big Lottery's own programmes, there is an expectation that those receiving funding will provide one-to-one personalised support working towards a range of goals, not just getting into work. Following stakeholder engagement, the Government will issue the Big Lottery Fund with a policy direction about the focus of the programme in 2018, with Big Lottery identifying pilot areas and issuing funding by the end of 2018.

The Youth Investment Fund – a three-year joint Big Lottery and DCMS fund – will distribute £40m of grant funding to organisations delivering open-access youth provision, across six geographical areas in England⁷⁹. Government expects these services will reach 300,000 young people. The fund is being evaluated by New Philanthropy Capital and the Centre for Youth Impact.

Youth services in Northern Ireland

Northern Ireland's current priorities for youth services are set out in the five-year-old Priorities for Youth: Improving Young People's Lives through Youth Work (2013)80. It outlines the key aims of youth work to: provide nonformal learning opportunities to help raise standards for all and close the performance gap between the highest and lowest achieving young people; and create inclusive and participative non-formal learning settings in which the voice and influence of young people are championed, supported and evident in the design, delivery and evaluation of programmes. There is emphasis on the role of the youth service in helping young people to overcome barriers to learning and engagement, providing personal and social development opportunities for all young people, targeted at those most in need, helping young people develop their selfesteem and have high aspirations, and helping young people transition to adulthood – all relevant to financial capability. No updated youth work policy framework has been published; however, the NI Executive's draft *Children and Young People's Strategy 2017-2027*⁸¹, published for consultation in December 2016 before power sharing arrangements were suspended, included a recommitment to the role of youth work as key to non-formal educational provision and identified this sector as an area of need.

Youth services in Scotland

The Scottish Government is coming to the end of delivering its 2014-19 youth work strategy, *Our ambitions for improving the life chances of young people in Scotland*⁸². The aims of the strategy were to: ensure Scotland is the best place to be young and grow up; put young people at the heart of policy; recognise the value of youth work; build workforce capacity; and ensure measurement of impact. It highlighted the role of youth work in supporting the delivery of Scotland's Curriculum for Excellence (see above), through community learning. Key actions included:

- Scottish Government to support the value and impact of youth work across a wide range of policy areas
- work by Education Scotland to support youth work and the community learning and development sector to prepare young people for employment as part of Curriculum for Excellence
- actions to promote the value of youth work and to demonstrate its role and value
- exploring options for developing and establishing national standards for youth work, and
- self-evaluation support for the youth work sector.

The Scottish Government has designated 2018 the year of young people (http://yoyp2018.scot/).

Youth services in Wales

Extending Entitlement, published in 2000 by the Welsh Assembly, aimed to establish a joined-up framework for supporting young people in Wales. Statutory guidance was issued under the Learning and Skills Act 2000, which empowered the National Assembly to direct local authorities to secure the provision of youth support services⁸³. In February 2014, the Welsh Government published its four-year youth work strategy. One of the key objectives of the strategy was to ensure youth work supports young people to develop life skills and resilience by enabling them to progress in education and training in preparation for employment and wider adult life. The strategy also included plans to

develop a National Outcomes Framework for youth work, the introduction of a Quality Mark for Youth Work in Wales, a coherent youth work training package, establishment of a Youth Work Reference Group, and an expectation that a joint youth work offer be developed through all Local Authority Single Integrated Plans.

The Welsh Government has indicated it plans to publish a new strategy for youth work, developed and delivered by a new Youth Work Board⁸⁴. At the same time, it published an independent review of *Extending Entitlement*⁸⁵ and reviews of the impact of its 2014-18 youth work strategy and associated funding streams⁸⁶.

Youth services - the opportunities:

Financial capability does not feature prominently in youth work strategies across the four nations. However, there is an opportunity to influence future priorities in this area as all three of the devolved nations are reaching the end of their strategies, with some commitments that these will be reviewed and renewed. More specifically:

- In **England**, the personalised one-to-one support provided through the dormant accounts youth fund, and its focus on attitudes, skills and young people's goals beyond employment, provides an opportunity to build in financial capability, potentially through the provision of training to practitioners to embed financial education into their practice.
- In **England**, if participation in NCS grows, it could be a key 'teachable moment' for financial learning before entering adulthood. Work with the Department for Culture, Media and Sport and the NCS as it transitions to becoming a royal charter body could help to ensure financial is a feature of the skills development aspects of the programme.
- In Wales and Scotland, work with the Welsh Government and Youth Work Board, and Education Scotland and the Scottish Government, on the development of their respective future youth work strategies could help to secure the inclusion of action to promote financial capability.

Early education and childcare

MAS's own research has found that social and emotional skills and behaviour in early childhood is linked to financial capability in adulthood via the child's money mindset. We also know that younger children, by the age of 7, are capable of understanding and learning about needs and wants, saving, delayed gratification, and money choices. Similarly, parent behaviours around money when their children are young affect a child's financial capability. So starting early on financial education, and supporting young children and their parents to learn together, can make a difference⁸⁷. This section therefore outlines the policy context relating to early education and childcare.

Early education and childcare in England

All 3 and 4 year-olds in England are entitled to 15 hours of free childcare over 38 weeks of the year, starting in the term after their third birthday. Since September 2017, 3 and 4 year-olds in working families have been entitled to 30 hours per week⁸⁸. The entitlement to 15 hours of childcare is also available for two-year-olds, where their parents are in receipt of specific benefits or where the child is looked after by the local authority, has special educational needs, is disabled, has been adopted or is subject to a special guardianship or childcare arrangements order.

The early years foundation stage (EYFS) ⁸⁹ sets learning, development and care standards for early education and childcare settings caring for children aged 0-5 years. It includes six areas of learning: communication and language; physical development; personal, social and emotional development; literacy; mathematics; understanding the world; and expressive arts and design. Talking about money to compare quantities and objects and to solve problems is one of the learning goals under the mathematics area of learning. All schools and Ofsted-registered early years providers must follow the EYFS, and it is used as part of Ofsted inspections of settings.

The Department for Education's social mobility strategy, *Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Potential*⁹⁰, published in December 2017, announced measures aimed at closing the 'word gap' between disadvantaged young children and their peers, as well as some measures relevant to numeracy. Further details are set out below under 'poverty, inequality and social mobility'.

Mathematical ability in childhood is strongly linked to good financial capability. The government's Early Years Workforce Strategy⁹¹, published in March 2017, announced government's plans to weaken requirements around maths attainment for early years staff counted in level 3 staff:child ratios. Previously, a member of staff with a level 3 Early Years Educator (EYE) qualification would only count in ratios if they also had maths and English GCSE. From April 2017, level 3 EYE staff will count in the ratios if they have level 2 math and English qualifications. The strategy also included plans to fund an online portal for the early years workforce including training modules for improving English and mathematics skills.

Early education and childcare in Northern Ireland

In Northern Ireland, parents can apply for government-funded pre-school provision for their child for the year immediately preceding starting school (i.e. for 3-4 year-olds). Funding covers 12.5 hours of early education per week for 38 weeks of the year in nursery schools, schools with early years provision, some playgroups and day nurseries⁹². All funded pre-school settings must work to the Curricular Guidance for Pre-School Education⁹³. The aims of the pre-school curriculum are to: promote emotional, social, physical, creative and intellectual development; develop self-esteem, selfcontrol and positive attitudes towards others; develop language and communication skills to encourage the sharing of thoughts and feelings; and create confident, eager, enthusiastic, independent, curious learners

with a positive and problem-solving attitude to learning. The curriculum makes no explicit reference to financial capability or early learning about money. Funded pre-school providers are inspected against the curricular guidance by the Education and Training Inspectorate (ETI). Local Health and Social Care Trusts' Early Years Teams are responsible for registering and inspecting childminding and daycare provision, working to a set of minimum standards published in 2012.

The Northern Ireland Executive published a draft ten-year childcare strategy in July 2015 for consultation, and a report summarising responses to the strategy was published in April 2018⁹⁴. Next steps are yet to be announced.

Early education and childcare in Scotland

In Scotland, children aged three to four years are entitled to 600 hours of childcare per year (approximately 16 hours per week in termtime). Two year-olds whose parents are entitled to specific benefits, or who are looked after or subject to a kinship care or guardianship order, are also eligible⁹⁵. Preschool education (aged 3-4) will deliver learning against the *Curriculum for Excellence* which covers education for 3-18 year-olds. The curriculum provides shared aims for preschool and reception-age children, with financial capability incorporated into:

- 'mathematics' and 'numeracy across learning', by developing awareness of how money is used and recognising and using a range of coins, and
- 'social studies', exploring how local shops, services and organisations provide people with what they need.

The Scottish Government has committed to extend this provision to 1,140 hours per year (or 30 hours per week) by 2020. In October 2017, it published a Quality Action Plan⁹⁶ to ensure that this extended provision delivers the best possible outcomes for young children, including plans to: improve knowledge and qualifications among the early years workforce and leadership; promote

outdoor learning; produce resources to empower parents to make early learning choices; support evidence-based family learning; better share good practice; and strengthen the early learning and childcare content on the National Improvement Hub. The Quality Action Plan also commits the Scottish Government to refreshing two pieces of national early years guidance which both refer to factors that our research indicates support the early building blocks for good financial capability, such as positive behaviour, perseverance and numeracy:

- the National Guidance on Pre-birth to Three⁹⁷, aimed at all staff working with babies and families, which sets out potential action for developing young children's literacy and numeracy, supporting parents to help their young children learn and develop, and promote positive behaviour, and
- Building the Ambition National Practice Guidance on Early Learning and Childcare⁹⁸, for staff in early education settings, which among a number of needs for young children highlights the importance of enabling young children to develop numeracy skills in play situations and giving them time to persevere with inquiry learning.

In further activity to ensure the 30 hours of funded provision is of good quality, the Scottish Government will be introducing a new National Standard for Funded Early Learning and Childcare Provision, published for consultation in 2018⁹⁹, with criteria grouped around: quality; accessibility; business sustainability; fair work practices; payment processes; and food.

As part of its 2012 national parenting strategy¹⁰⁰, the Scottish Government has produced a number of resources for parents of young children. For example, Play, Talk, Read¹⁰¹ aims to encourage parents and carers to interact with their young children in order to promote their development and well-being,

including suggestions for activities like playing shops.

Early education and childcare in Wales

The Welsh Government's priorities for the early years were set out in 2013 in *Building a Brighter Future: Early Years and Childcare Plan*, which brought together their policies and programmes for young children and their families at that time. This section focuses on the current status of elements of that plan and new areas of policy.

All young children aged 3 and 4 years are entitled to a minimum of 10 hours per week of funded, part-time, Foundation Phase nursery, starting in the term following their third birthday. This can be taken up in a local authority- or school-approved setting, including nurseries, funded playgroups and childminder settings. This provision will work to the current foundation phase curriculum¹⁰², which covers learning for children from the age of 3 to 7 years and is based on a principle of learning through play. Within this curriculum, nursery children should be supported to demonstrate an awareness of the purpose of money through role play as part of the mathematical development area of learning. Since September 2017, the Welsh Government has been testing an extended childcare offer of 30 hours per week for 3 and 4 year-olds for 48 weeks of the year, incorporating the foundation phase provision outline above 103. This approach is being trialled in seven local authority areas, with plans for national roll-out thereafter.

Early years practitioners assess young children's development using the Foundation Phase Profile¹⁰⁴, which centres around four areas of learning: personal and social development, well-being and cultural diversity; language, literacy and

communication skills; mathematical development; and physical development. The mathematical development area of learning includes a 'skill ladder' encouraging early education and childcare settings to provide experiences for children to understand and handle money, including using it in role play, to buy items and in mathematics.

Childcare provision in Wales is inspected by Care Inspectorate Wales against a set of national standards¹⁰⁵. In addition, the government's early years outcomes framework¹⁰⁶ is designed to support coordination across government, assess the impact of policies and programmes, support local planning and evaluation, and help those working across the early years sector (including in delivery) assess the impact of their contribution. The framework sets out six overarching outcomes for children aged 0-7, that they: are and feel safe; are cared for supported and valued; are resilient, capable and coping; are healthy; learn and develop; do not live in and are not disadvantaged by poverty. The framework is being updated to reflect the National Literacy and Numeracy Framework which covers children aged 5 to 14 years (see above under 'school curriculum').

In January 2018, the Welsh Government launched 'Take Time to Talk, Listen and Play', a campaign to encourage parents and carers of three to seven year-olds to support their children's development of language and communication skills¹⁰⁷. Introduced in 2007 and expanded in 2012, Flying Start is a programme of targeted support for young children growing up in disadvantaged areas, delivered by local authorities as part of the Welsh Governments 'Tackling Poverty' agenda¹⁰⁸. (Further details are provided below under 'poverty, inequality and social mobility').

Early education and childcare – the opportunities:

- In **Wales**, the Take Time to Talk, Listen and Play campaign could be developed to encourage number talk, drawing on evidence around the link between number talk and childhood maths skills¹⁰⁹, which is in turn is positively linked to financial capability.
- In **Scotland**, expansion of the free early education offer with a focus on driving up quality is an opportunity to improve the focus on the early building blocks for financial capability, through for example plans to improve workforce knowledge and understanding and strengthen references to money skills in national guidance for early years providers.
- In **Scotland**, plans to revise national early years guidance could be an opportunity to promote practitioner and parent behaviours that will strengthen the building blocks in the early years that are linked to later financial capability.

There are further opportunities to embed financial capability in the early years context under the section 'poverty, inequality and social mobility' below.

Family services

Parents and carers have a key role to play in supporting children's financial capability. A child's financial capability is linked to their parents' qualification levels, income and own financial skills. In addition, parents' attitudes and behaviours affect a child's financial capability, with giving regular pocket money whatever the amount, engaging children in financial decisions, showing children how to check a bank balance and setting rules around money all having a positive effect¹¹⁰. This section therefore outlines the UK nations' policy frameworks relating to the provision of services and support to families. (See also policy frameworks outlined under 'early education and childcare' and 'poverty, inequality and social mobility').

Family services in England

In England, local authorities continue to provide services for families, particularly of young children, through children's centres established as part of the Sure Start programme. Amid concerns regarding a reduction in children's centre settings and services, the Department for Education committed, in 2015 and 2017¹¹¹, to a public consultation on the future of children's centres. This is yet to take place.

The Troubled Families programme¹¹², overseen by the Department for Housing, Communities and Local Government and delivered by local authorities, targets interventions to families with multiple problems, including crime and anti-social behaviour, school truancy, unemployment, mental health problems and domestic violence. Financial exclusion is a key issue facing many of the families engaged in the

programme. The programme has run since 2012, with £440 million allocated for work with 120,000 families in the first phase (2012-2015) and £920 million for an additional 400,000 families in the second phase (2015-2020), and local authorities receiving payments for the results they achieve with families. The government is yet to confirm plans for the programme, and therefore future funding of interventions for families with complex needs, beyond 2020.

The Healthy Child Programme 0-19 (divided into two phases 'pregnancy and the first five years of life' and '5 to 19 years old') sets out the universal health offer to children and their families, primarily delivered by health visitors and school nurses and overseen by local authorities. It includes public health interventions, such as immunisation, but also a number of mandated home visits and health and development checks, particularly in the

early years, which provide an opportunity to engage parents on wider issues around parenting and child development. Current guidance¹¹³ makes no specific reference to using these interventions to address families' financial well-being. Family Nurse Partnership, a licenced programme developed in the USA which provides intensive support to young mothers from pregnancy to age two, is on offer in some parts of England, supported by a government-funded national unit¹¹⁴.

Family services in Northern Ireland

In Northern Ireland, the Sure Start programme¹¹⁵ provides services to parents from pregnancy to their child starting school at age four, targeted at families living in disadvantaged areas. The programme is overseen by the Department of Education and administered by the Health and Social Care Board, and services are delivered by local Sure Start Partnerships. A Sure Start project must include: home-based support, healthcare and health advice, support for a child's development (including play, learning and early education) and speech and language support. It can also include ante- and postnatal support and parenting courses. Sure Start projects also run a programme for two to three year olds to help them prepare for school, with a focus on social and emotional development, communication and language and imagination through play; parents are encouraged to play an active part in the programme. Family Nurse Partnership is on offer in Northern Ireland and overseen by the Public Health Agency¹¹⁶.

Work is underway to replace Northern Ireland's 2009 strategy for families, Families Matter¹¹⁷, with a new Family and Parenting Support Strategy led by the Department of Health.

Family services in Scotland

In 2015, the Scottish Government launched a new universal health visiting service with mandated home visits and development checks from pregnancy to the child reaching pre-school age. At the same time, the

government worked with local Health Boards with the aim of creating 500 new health visitor posts by 2018. The associated guidance, a health visiting 'pathway', sets out the specifications of the offer, and includes references to making routine enquiries about family finances and raising awareness of available support and advice¹¹⁸. The Family Nurse Partnership programme is being delivered in some areas of Scotland, with government plans to extend this to all areas by the end of 2018¹¹⁹. From summer 2019, low-income families will be entitled to the Best Start Grant, providing £600 on the birth of their first child and £300 on the birth of any subsequent children, and further payments of £250 when the child starts nursery and school¹²⁰.

The Parental Involvement (Scotland) Act 2006 placed a duty on local authorities to improve parents' involvement in their children's learning at home and through home/school partnerships. Building on this, the Scottish Government has published a new strategy to support parental involvement in their children's learning from the early years onwards. Key actions in Learning Together¹²¹ (covering the period 2018-21) include improved guidance and tools on engaging parents in learning, including targeted support for specific groups of parents, a continued review and refresh of Parentzone Scotland, and the promotion of examples of good practice in home learning.

The Tackling Child Poverty Delivery Plan¹²² (2018) announced a new Family Financial Health Check Guarantee for low income families with children, to be delivered through a £1.5 million per year advice service starting in 2018. The aim is to provide disadvantaged families with help relating to benefit uptake and managing the poverty premium. Priority families will be entitled to a tailored adviser conversation – face to face or over the phone – while an online Financial Health Check resource will be accessible to everyone.

Family services in Wales

The Welsh Government's Families First programme, delivered by local authorities, is available to all families in need of help, advice and support, with an emphasis on early intervention and prevention. Updated guidance on the programme (2017) refers to parents' role in supporting children's 'financial development'¹²³. Integrated Children's Centres offer families access to play opportunities, early education, childcare, community training and other family support services. As outlined above, the Wales

programme for government 2016-21 announced the government's plans to pilot the use of Community Learning Centres to provide families with childcare, parenting support and family learning opportunities. The Parents Childcare and Employment project (PaCE) helps cover the costs of childcare so parents can undertake training, work experience or volunteering. It is open to unemployed parents aged 25+ and parents aged 16-24 who are not in education, employment or training¹²⁴.

Family service policy – the opportunities:

Family focussed interventions could provide an opportunity to engage parents in understanding better how to support their children to develop financial capability, as well as a means of helping families develop money skills together.

- Across the UK nations, integrated services are offered to families through Sure Start
 children's centres or similar settings. These venues could offer a useful route to embed
 financial education in parenting and early education programmes. However, reductions in
 local authority funding and thereby provision and settings (outlined in the first section of
 this report), could pose a risk to such a strategy.
- Across the UK, current programmes and interventions could offer opportunities to build
 financial education into interventions with families, including the most vulnerable, for
 example through: the Troubled Families (England), Family Nurse Partnership (England,
 Scotland and Northern Ireland), Healthy Child Programme (England, including through the
 2-2.5 year check), universal health visiting pathway (Scotland, building on the current
 requirement to make enquiries around financial well-being of the family) and the family
 financial health check (Scotland, starting 2018).
- In **Scotland and Wales**, there is evidence of an increasing interest in supporting family learning, through the parental involvement action plan in Scotland and plans to pilot the use Community Learning Centres for family learning in Wales. This suggests that a focus on family learning around financial capability could prove an effective strategy for influencing policy and practice in these nations, drawing on MAS's learning through Talk, Learn, Do and our evidence of parents' impact on children's money skills.
- In England, the future of the Troubled Families programme remains unclear. Work to
 replace and develop this programme could provide an opportunity to build on existing
 provision supporting parents and their children to develop money skills together.
 However, children and family service leaders in England say they have depended on
 Troubled Families funding to resource their family support provision¹²⁵, so a decision not
 to replace it could pose a threat the future of family support more broadly.
- In **Northern Ireland**, the plan to develop a new family support strategy (replacing Families Matter 2009) could provide an opportunity to secure action to enable families to develop financial capability together with their children.

Children in vulnerable circumstances

Some children and young people are at greater risk of doing worse than their peers on measures of financial capability. Others may have characteristics, or may grow up in contexts, that mean they need specific targeted financial capability support. This section covers the policy context relevant to these more vulnerable children, focusing on groups for whom there are clearly targeted policy agendas: children growing up in poverty and disadvantage; disabled children and those with special educational needs; children in care, care leavers and children in need; young carers; and children with mental health problems.

Poverty, inequality and social mobility

Children growing up in low-income or over-indebted households are more likely to have poor financial capability, and disadvantaged children are more likely than their peers to struggle to achieve good outcomes in their learning. Policies to tackle poverty and inequality, and to mitigate the effects of poverty on children's outcomes, are therefore relevant to efforts to promote childhood financial capability and support children's learning around financial matters.

Child poverty – the UK context

The Child Poverty Act 2010¹²⁶ introduced statutory targets for reducing and eradicating child poverty in the UK, required the UK government to report annually on progress against those targets and placed duties on the UK and Scottish and Northern Ireland devolved governments to publish a child poverty strategy (Wales was already required to prepare a strategy under its Assembly's legislation, see below). The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 made changes to the legislation, removing the four statutory UKwide targets (relative, absolute and persistent poverty and combined poverty and material deprivation) and instead requiring the UK government to report annually on: the number of children living in workless households and long-term workless households in England; and the educational attainment gap at the end of Key Stage 4 (GCSE) between all children and disadvantaged children in England. The 2016 Act also abolished the requirement that the UK government publish a UK child poverty strategy, removed the reference to 'child poverty' from the then Social Mobility and Child Poverty Commission¹²⁷, and renamed the Child Poverty Act the Life Chances Act.

Poverty and inequality in England

The UK government is advised on its poverty and social mobility policies by the Social Mobility Commission, a non-departmental public body sponsored by the Cabinet Office and the Department for Education, which monitors progress towards improving social mobility in the UK and promotes social mobility in England.

While the UK government no longer has an overarching strategy for tackling child poverty in the UK or England context, it publishes annual figures on the number of children in workless households and the attainment gap at Key Stage 4 between poor pupils and their peers. In England, the government has focused its efforts on tackling this attainment gap. In October 2016, the Secretary of State for Education committed £72 million of funding to 12 'opportunity areas' 128, social mobility 'coldspots', each of which have developed a local plan¹²⁹ for improving attainment throughout childhood and into young adulthood in their area supported by local independent partnership boards made up of school and council leaders, businesses and other local partners. All the plans include a programme working with national businesses, including major banks, to provide 11-18 year-olds with work experience. In addition, the government committed £22 million to fund an Essential Life Skills programme across the 12 opportunity areas to help disadvantaged young people develop skills such as resilience, emotional well-being and employability¹³⁰.

The 'opportunity areas' programme is now being delivered under the Department for Education's wider social mobility strategy Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Potential: a plan

for improving social mobility through education, published in December 2017. This agenda has also launched a number of activities aimed at narrowing the early childhood development gap between disadvantaged young children and their peers. Actions include:

- an Early Years Social Mobility peerreview programme, led by the Local Government Association, to support the sharing of best practice from highto low-performing local authorities (£8.5 million)
- training and guidance for health visitors and early years practitioners to identify and support children's early speech, language and communication needs, with Public Health England
- revising the Early Learning Goals in the Early Years Foundation Stage (see above under 'early education and childcare'), to reflect rounded childhood development and to strengthen literacy and numeracy
- testing projects in the North of England that aim to support parents to help their children learn new words (£5 million) and funding voluntary and community groups to support disadvantaged parents and those with children with additional needs to teach their children to read, write and talk (£6.5 million)¹³¹.
- a new national network of school-led English Hubs to promote and share good practice in early language and literacy, focused on reception but with funding to offer school-led professional development for practitioners in pre-school settings to support early language and numeracy (£50 million), and
- inclusion of a specific focus on improving early literacy and numeracy in the Strategic School Improvement Fund.

Other actions relating to school-age children include work to improve teacher quality and teacher retention, enhanced school

improvement support in more challenging areas (see above under 'school improvement'), action to improve educational outcomes for 'children in need' (see below under 'children in care, care leavers and children in need') and those in alternative educational provision, improved routes to further education, technical education and apprenticeships and improved access to careers guidance and work experience (see above under 'post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers'), and improvement support for the further education sector.

State-funded schools in England are allocated additional per pupil funding in order to provide additional support to disadvantaged pupils in their school, namely: children who are or have been entitled to free school meals, looked after children, children who have been adopted from care and children who are subject to a special guardian order having left care. Funding for pupils entitled to free school meals goes directly to the school, while funding for children with experience of care is managed by the local authority's Virtual School Head, the local authority officer responsible for improving the educational outcomes of looked after children in the area. (See below for more on the education of looked after children).

Poverty and inequality in Northern Ireland

The Northern Ireland Executive's most recent anti-poverty and social inclusion strategy, Lifetime Opportunities, was published in 2006¹³². This kicked off plans to strengthen financial education reflected in the current school curriculum, and included goals to: ensure children have a chance to develop their full potential in infancy regardless of social background; and ensure all children and young people experience a happy and fulfilling childhood, with the education, skills and experience to achieve their potential "to be citizens of tomorrow". More up-to-date proposals for action to tackle poverty were set out in the draft Programme for Government, subject to consultation at the end of 2016, with further announcements

delayed by the suspension of power-sharing arrangements in January 2017.

The Executive's Child Poverty Strategy for 2014-17 aims to reduce the number of children in poverty and the impact of poverty on children¹³³. The four outcomes sitting under these aims are: families experience economic well-being; children in poverty learn and achieve; children in poverty are healthy; and children in poverty live in safe, secure and stable environments. Indicators used to measure progress against the learning and achieving outcome relate to academic attainment, young people not in education, employment or training, and school enrolment.

Poverty and inequality in Scotland

The Child Poverty (Scotland) Act 2017 sets out four statutory child poverty reduction targets; places a duty on Scottish Ministers to publish child poverty delivery plans for 2018-22, 2022-26 and 2026-2031, and to report on progress against those plans annually; places a duty on local authorities and Health Boards to report annually on activity contributing to the meeting of the child poverty targets; and establishes a Poverty and Inequality Commission (established in 2017¹³⁴).

In March 2018, the Scottish Government published its first delivery plan under the Act, *Every child, every chance: tackling child poverty delivery plan 2018-2022*¹³⁵. The delivery plan included actions aimed at addressing the drivers of poverty (income, costs of living and social security), as well as actions to prevent children and young people becoming parents in poverty of the future. Actions include:

- extending the Children's
 Neighbourhoods Scotland programme
 – currently being piloted in Glasgow –
 which aims to develop services to
 reduce poverty, empower
 communities, and improve outcomes
 for children and young people (£2 million)
- supporting the further education sector to develop initiatives with

- colleges targeted at young people who have grown up in poverty (£1.2 million over the course of the plan)
- a new community education programme for Gypsy/ Traveller families with early years play and learning opportunities, adult learning opportunities for parents and carers, and routes into community-based learning for secondary school-age children (initial £500,000 over the course of the plan)
- a national coordinator to help local authorities and health boards plan and report on their actions, and
- development of a resource for disabled children and young people and their families with information relating to rights, accessibility of support and transitions, subject to consultation¹³⁶.

Launched in February 2015, the Scottish Attainment Challenge aims to ensure all children have the same opportunities in their learning, with a focus on narrowing the attainment gap between children growing up in poverty and their peers. The programme focuses on improving pupils' literacy, numeracy and health and well-being in nine 'Challenge Authorities'137. Initially centred on primary schools, the 'challenge' is being extended to over 100 secondary schools. The Pupil Equity Fund provides resources directly to schools to help them deliver the additional support they think is necessary in order to close the attainment gap between poorer pupils and their peers (£120m in 2017-18). Both programmes are being delivered through a £750 million Attainment Scotland Fund over the period from 2016 to 2021¹³⁸.

Poverty and inequality in Wales

In 2016, the Welsh Government published its second Financial Inclusion Strategy for Wales and an associated Delivery Plan. Alongside actions to improve access to affordable credit and financial services, the strategy aims to build financial understanding and capability. Actions targeted at children and young people's financial capability include:

- using the new school curriculum to ensure children have the financial skills needed to play a full part in life and work, and
- promoting and encouraging financial capability initiatives targeted at parents, families, children and young people, including through informal and peer-to-peer interventions – including work with the Money Advice Service on Talk, Learn, Do (a financial capability intervention for parents of young children) and identifying other opportunities to embed financial capability in Welsh Government and partner parent, family and children and young people programmes.

The Children and Families (Wales) Measure 2010, and associated guidance, requires the Welsh Government, local authorities and other national bodies to publish a strategy for contributing to the eradication of child poverty in Wales¹³⁹. More recently, the Child Poverty Strategy for Wales, published in 2015¹⁴⁰, set out five objectives, to: reduce the number of families living in workless households; increase the skills of parents and young people living in low-income households; reduce the inequalities in health, education and economic outcomes; use all available levers to create a strong economy and labour market; and support families living in poverty to increase household income through debt and financial advice, action to address the poverty premium and action to mitigate the impacts of welfare reform. The strategy emphasised the importance of improving the financial literacy and capability of children and young people to meet the latter objective.

Rewriting the future: raising ambition and attainment in Welsh school, published in 2014, outlined the government's strategy for ensuring children's education was not disadvantaged by poverty and inequality. The Pupil Development Grant (PDG, formerly the Pupil Deprivation Grant), established in 2012, is provided to schools and regional school improvement consortia to fund additional

support for disadvantaged children to address gaps in educational attainment. Since 2015-16, the grant has been extended to early years settings through the Early Years PDG. Both grants are targeted at children who are or have been entitled to Free School Meals in the previous two years or who are looked after. In June 2018, the Welsh Government expanded the PDG further with the launch of the £1.7 million PDG Access - funds for parents and carers of children eligible for free school meals or those who are looked after, to help with the costs of their child starting school or moving into secondary education¹⁴¹. Schools Challenge Cymru was established in 2014 as a three-year programme to narrow the attainment gap between more disadvantaged pupils and their peers through per capita funding, guidance and resources, and bespoke support. The programme, which distributed approximately £20million per year to schools and regional consortia, came to an end in summer 2017.

In the early years, the Flying Start programme targets support to young children growing up in disadvantaged areas. Delivered by local authorities, the programme consists of four core elements¹⁴²:

- free childcare: 12.5 hours of childcare per week for eligible two- to three-year-olds growing up in a Flying Start area, from the term after their second birthday until the term after their third birthday. The aim of this additional provision is to prepare children for entering the foundation phase at age 3, and there is an emphasis on ensuring these children access high quality childcare environments, staff and experiences¹⁴³
- enhanced health visiting services: with one full time equivalent health visitor per 110 children aged under 4 in the target areas, a lower than usual caseload
- parenting support programmes: with at least annual formal parenting support interventions (group-based or one-toone), covering perinatal and early years support, early intervention for vulnerable parents and positive parenting, and

 early language development and play skills: access to a language and play group for eligible families, with more specialist support where required, in response to the link between speech, language and communication development and later childhood literacy.

In addition, the outreach element of the programme enables local authorities to

deliver Flying Start to families living outside the designated areas. Latest statistics (for 2016-17) indicate that over 37,000 young children received services through Flying Start, 25 per cent of all under-4s in Wales were on Flying Start health visitor caseloads, over 7,000 children took up an offer of Flying Start childcare and over 4,000 places on structured parenting courses were offered¹⁴⁴.

Poverty and inequality policy – the opportunities:

Scotland is currently focusing on child poverty with new legislation passed in 2017, an associated delivery plan, a new poverty commission and local planning requirements. Financial capability is threaded through Wales's current policies to tackle poverty. Northern Ireland is reaching the end of its current child poverty strategy. Like England, its focus on narrowing the attainment gap between children growing up in poverty and their peers focuses on academic attainment. In the England context, the government has focused on life chances and social mobility, rather than poverty, and has in place a broad strategy to promote social mobility through education.

- In **England**, work with the Department of Education could help to embed effective financial education in the Essential Life Skills programme being delivered to young people in the 12 'opportunity areas', as part of the social mobility strategy.
- In **England**, measures to improve learning and development among disadvantaged young children, as part of the government's social mobility strategy, focus mainly on children's early language skills. There is therefore an opportunity to work with the Department for Education to develop a stronger focus on numeracy (including financial capability) in this area of policy as it develops.
- In Wales, financial capability could be embedded into approaches to tackling child poverty and its effects. For example, by developing or identifying examples of good practice around the use of the Pupil Development Grant to support disadvantaged children and young people's financial capability, or by incorporating financial capability into relevant elements of the Flying Start programme, building on MAS's Talk Learn Do.
- In **Northern Ireland,** financial capability could be embedded (as part of life skills) into future child poverty strategies, for example, expanding approaches to narrowing the gap in attainment beyond academic qualifications.
- In Scotland, the Scottish Government and the new poverty and inequality commission
 could be supported to build children and young people's financial capability into their
 development of solutions to reduce poverty and tackle its effects on children's outcomes,
 including through their work with further education colleges and Gypsy and Roma
 Traveller families, and by engaging with their national coordinator to identify how
 financial capability could be reflected in local authorities' and local health boards' child
 poverty plans.
- In **Scotland**, there is an opportunity to understand the impact of the Scottish Attainment Challenge on improving broader outcomes for more disadvantaged children, such as financial capability, and identifying where the programme could be enhanced to address

- these skills.
- Across the UK, school engagement activity could develop knowledge of whether and how
 funding targeted at helping schools to narrow the gap in educational outcomes is used for
 wider learning around life skills (including financial capability), and how this could be
 developed further.

Disabled children and those with special educational needs (SEND)

Our research shows that children with special educational needs (SEN) and disabled children do worse than their peers on some measures of financial capability, and disabled children are more likely to grow up in a low-income household, itself linked to poorer financial capability. There are links between long-term illness in childhood and poor financial outcomes in later life¹⁴⁵.

SEND policy in England

The Children and Families Act 2014¹⁴⁶ introduced wide-ranging reforms to the provision of support to disabled children and those with special educational needs (SEN), which came into force in September 2014 with a phased introduction. Key measures included:

- introducing single, integrated education, health and care (EHC) assessments and plans for children and young people aged 0-25 with complex needs, carried out by the local authority and replacing learning difficulty assessments and SEN statements. Personal budgets can be provided alongside the EHC plan
- placing a duty on local authorities to identify all children and young people in their area who are/may be disabled or who have/may have SEN
- requiring local authorities to carry out their functions in a way that promotes integration between educational, health and social care services and provision, and putting in place arrangements for the joint commissioning of SEND provision across local authorities and clinical

- commissioning groups (health commissioners)
- requiring local authorities to keep under review the educational and social care provision for disabled children and those with SEN in their area
- placing a duty on local authorities to publish a 'local offer' for disabled children and young people and those with SEN, setting out the services that should be available. This should include the support available to help disabled young people and those with SEN prepare for the transition into adulthood, and
- provisions relating to the voice of children, young people and parents and rights of appeal.

Children with special educational needs continue to be entitled to support from their nursery or school, such as reasonable adjustments for disabled children, a special learning programme, speech and language therapy or extra support to take part in class activities. This support is arranged by the setting's Special Educational Needs Coordinator (SENCO). For 5-16 year-olds who are working below the standard of national curriculum tests and assessments, P scales (performance attainment targets) and performance descriptors must be used by education settings and local authorities to assess progress at key stages 1-3; this approach can also be used at key stage 4147.

Further guidance on the duties of local authorities, health bodies, schools and colleges relating to special educational needs and disability are set out in the 2015 Special educational needs and disability code of

practice: 0 to 25 years¹⁴⁸. Education providers – from early years settings to colleges – are expected to start early in helping prepare children for independence and adulthood through the provision of information and skills development. The Code encourages local authorities to develop pathways to employment for disabled young people and those with SEN through apprenticeships, traineeships and supported internships.

In addition to funding to support the introduction of its reforms, the Department for Education has committed resources to: expand the number of good school places for disabled children and those with SEND (£215m, in March 2017)¹⁴⁹; create supported internships to support disabled young people and those with SEN into employment (£9.7million, November 2017); support Parent Carer Forums giving parents and carers a voice in local decision-making (£4.6 million, November 2017); and funding for local authority regional SEND coordinators (£200,000, March 2018)¹⁵⁰.

The Department for Education is, at the time of writing, undertaking a review into the educational outcomes of 'children in need', including disabled children, looked after children, young carers and children on child protection and 'child in need' plans¹⁵¹.

SEND policy in Northern Ireland

In Northern Ireland, a new policy framework for the provision of support to disabled children and young people and those with SEN is currently being implemented. The Special Educational Needs and Disability Act (Northern Ireland) 2016, expected to be implemented in 2019:

- requires schools to prepare and review a personal learning plan for each pupil with SEN
- requires the Education Authority and health and social services bodies to cooperate in order to identify, assess and provide for children with SEN
- introduces new rights for parents and children over compulsory school age

- places a duty on the Education
 Authority to publish an annual plan of its arrangements for special educational provision
- requires Boards of Governors to ensure a Learning Support Coordinator is appointed within each school to coordinate provision for children with SEN, and
- requires increased cooperation between the Education Authority and health and social services authorities to provide services for children with SEN.

Draft regulations were going through the Northern Ireland Assembly before the suspension of power-sharing arrangements, and a new SEN code of practice is being developed. Therefore, the most current code of practice governing the identification of children and young people with SEN, and the assessment and provision of needs during their school years, dating back to 1998, remains in force¹⁵², alongside the provisions of the Special Educational Needs and Disability (Northern Ireland) Order 2005¹⁵³.

SEND policy in Scotland

Provision for disabled children and young people and those with SEN is governed by the Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004¹⁵⁴, and associated statutory guidance (recently updated in 2017¹⁵⁵). The Act requires education boards to:

- make arrangements to identify children with additional support needs (i.e. who need additional support in order to make the most of their education), provide support to meet those needs and keep under review children's needs and adequacy of support provided
- provide appropriate additional support for certain disabled children under school age
- publish, review and update information about their additional support for learning policy and arrangements

- provide children or young people who need one with a co-ordinated support plan and keep this plan under regular review, and
- make arrangements for a young person's transition out of school.

When an education authority requests help to fulfil these functions from another 'appropriate agency' – other education authorities, NHS Boards, Skills Development Scotland, further education colleges and higher education institutions - the appropriate agency must do so. The Act and guidance also set out the rights of parents and children with capacity in relation to additional support for learning, for example to request an assessment. The statutory guidance makes explicit reference to financial capability, highlighting money management as an important element of transition planning for older young people with additional support needs who are due to leave school.

The Scottish Government's broader strategy for disabled people, A Fairer Scotland for Disabled People¹⁵⁶, published at the end of 2016, sets out additional actions for improving support and services for disabled children and young people and those with SEN:

- consulting on the development of A National Framework for Families with Disabled Children and Young People to improve the outcomes of young disabled people
- piloting a local support and information network for parents of disabled children
- action by the Student Award Agency Scotland to make application processes more accessible for students with additional support needs, including disabled students
- supporting disabled young people through the *Developing the Young Workforce* (see above under 'post-16 learning, apprenticeships and careers') and removing barriers to disabled young people taking up apprenticeships through the

Equalities Action Plan for Modern Apprenticeships in Scotland.

In addition, the government is consulting on the development of an online and app-based resource for disabled children and young people and their families with information relating to rights and entitlements, accessibility of support (including financial support) and transitions (including the development of skills for independence). The resource is due to be launched in winter 2018¹⁵⁷.

SEND policy in Wales

The Welsh Government recently introduced a new statutory framework for supporting children and young people with additional learning needs (ALN) for children aged 0 to 25. The Additional Learning Needs and Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018¹⁵⁸:

- requires a local authority, school governing body or further education institution, if it is made aware that a child or young person aged 0-25 who has or may have ALN, to determine whether or not this is the case
- introduces a single statutory plan for children and young people with ALN, the individual development plan (IDP), replacing existing statements and plans, and simplifies the process of producing and revising the plan. The IDP will usually be prepared, maintained and reviewed by the child's school or further education institution – with local authorities leading the IDP process where the child's needs cannot be met by the education provider, the child is in a non-maintained setting or the child is home educated
- requires mainstream maintained schools, nurseries, pupil referral units and further education institutions to have a designated ALN coordinator (ALNCo), replacing the non-statutory SENCo
- puts in place measures to support increased collaboration across education, health and social services

in providing support to children and young people with ALN, requiring other local authorities, NHS bodies and further education institutions to comply with local authority requests for help in exercising their ALN functions

- introduces a new statutory ALN Code, which will be subject to public consultation during 2018
- requires services to consider whether additional learning support should be provided in Welsh, and

 introduces measures relating to the voice of children, young people and parents and rights of appeal

The Act is expected to come into force from September 2020 and the implementation period will last until 2023. Before then, local authorities must continue to fulfil their duties under the existing SEN statutory framework in Wales, set out in the Education Act 1996, the Learning and Skills Act 2000 and the SEN Code of Practice for Wales¹⁵⁹.

SEND policy – the opportunities:

All nations have recently introduced reforms to their statutory frameworks for children and young people with additional learning needs/special educational needs, providing an opportunity to embed financial capability as local agencies and practitioners focus on improving provision. At the same time, a significant period of change in this sector could pose a barrier to service leaders and practitioners pursuing additional areas of work. In Scotland, statutory guidance on support for children with additional support needs for learning makes explicit (though brief) reference to financial capability, in the context of a young person preparing to leave school.

- Across some or all nations, work could be carried out with local/education authorities to
 identify and share examples of good practice in supporting disabled pupils and those with
 SEN to develop good financial capability to promote the inclusion of these elements of
 learning into provision. It may be particularly effective to focus first on the work of local
 authorities and education providers in relation to the transition to adulthood.
- In **Scotland**, the development of an online resource for disabled children and their families could provide a route to communicate directly with children, young people and parents/carers about supporting disabled children and young people and those with SEN to develop good financial capability. The focus on disabled young people in the next steps of the government's *Developing the Young Workforce* strategy is an opportunity to target appropriate and relevant financial capability support.

Children in care, care leavers and children in need

Children in care and care leavers are more likely than their peers to have experiences and characteristics which are associated with a higher risk of having poor financial capability – for example low educational attainment, young parenthood, and mental health and emotional problems. This is reflected in the lower rates of financial capability among care experienced children. Their experiences as a

child in care also mean they may have specific and additional financial education needs, for example because they may need to become financially independent earlier than a young person living at home¹⁶⁰.

The Government have contributed £200 to open a Junior ISA for all looked after children in the UK who have been in care for at least a year and who do not have a Child Trust Fund¹⁶¹. This section focuses on the four nation's overarching priorities for children's

social care and policy frameworks for supporting the learning and development of children in care and care leavers.

Care policy in England

Putting Children First, published in 2016, sets out the government's vision and five-year reform programme for social care services for children and young people in England. It outlined actions under three pillars: people and leadership; practice and systems; and governance and accountability. Actions included:

- expanding the Children's Social Care Innovation Programme, which develops, tests and shares effective practice, and continuing work with leading local authorities (called 'partners in practice') to develop sector-led improvement. The Minister recently announced £5 million for three new Social Impact Bond projects to support for care leavers into education, employment or training¹⁶²
- launching a new What Works Centre for children's social care, currently being established with Department for Education funding with the aim of being fully independent by April 2020¹⁶³.
 Current priorities include gathering evidence about what works in reducing the need for children to enter care and in the supervision of social workers
- programmes for developing practice leaders and supervisors, with the aim of having an accredited children and families social work 'practice leader' in every local authority by 2020, and
- improving the collection and use of data to drive children's social care practice.

Revised statutory guidance, published in 2018, sets out the duties of local authorities in promoting the education of looked after children (aged 0-18) should have a Personal Education Plan (PEP), as part of their care plan and for 16 and 17 year-olds as part of their pathway plan to support the transition to leaving care. The PEP should cover the full range of the child's education needs from the early years to adulthood; the guidance refers to financial information about further and higher

education, training and employment and managing money and savings. Every local authority must appoint a lead officer with responsibility for promoting the education of children looked after and previously looked after by their authority (the 'virtual school head').

Local authorities are required to provide Personal Adviser support to all care leavers up to the age of 25¹⁶⁵, providing the young person with the practical and emotional support they need to make a successful transition to adulthood and monitoring their pathway plan. Statutory guidance on care leaver transition planning and supporting care leavers emphasises the importance of assessing, and supporting the development of, the young person's financial capability (including access to products, budgeting and saving)166. Since 2014, local authorities in England must facilitate, monitor and support arrangements whereby fostered young people can stay with their foster carers until they reach the age of 21 ('staying put'), where this is what they and their foster carers want¹⁶⁷.

All school governing bodies must designate a member of staff (the 'designated teacher') as having the responsibility for promoting the educational achievement of looked-after and previously looked-after children registered at the school¹⁶⁸. Revised statutory guidance, published in 2018, outlines the role of the designated teacher in supporting the preparation and review of a child's PEP¹⁶⁹. Through the pupil premium, schools receive addition per pupil funding to provide additional support to disadvantaged students; this includes children in care and children who have been adopted from care or have left care and made the subject of a special guardianship order. Pupil premium funding for children in care is managed by the child's 'home' local authority virtual school head. The Department for Education provides schools and local authorities with resources on how to spend the pupil premium effectively¹⁷⁰. As stated above, the Department for Education is undertaking a review into the educational outcomes of 'children in need',

including looked after children and children on child protection and 'child in need' plans¹⁷¹.

Care policy in Northern Ireland

Health and social care trusts are under duties to assess, plan for and meet the needs of children and young people in and leaving care up to the age of 21 (and beyond if they are in education) 172. As in England, all looked after child have a Personal Education Plan taking into account their individual circumstances, challenges and potential. Health and Social Care Trusts must provide children leaving care with a personal adviser and support to plan their pathway to independence. Statutory guidance highlights the importance of teaching practical and financial skills and knowledge as one of the three key aspects of good preparation for leaving care, including support for budgeting, accessing financial products and advice¹⁷³. The Department for Education recently published a new guide for educators of care-experienced children and young people¹⁷⁴.

The Northern Ireland Executive recently consulted on a new strategy for improving the lives of looked after children¹⁷⁵, setting out its pledge to children on the edge of care and in and leaving care. The strategy outlines eight priority outcomes for these children including: learning and achievement, economic and environmental well-being and making a positive contribution to society, as well as health, stability, rights and play and leisure. The strategy emphasises the need for further action to narrow the attainment gap between looked after children and their peers, and the role of the personal adviser in supporting care leavers to develop life, social and practical skills, including financial capability skills such as budgeting, saving, having a bank account and accessing/maintaining their Junior ISA.

Proposed actions include:

- introducing an Adoption and Children Bill, to: introduce a statutory framework for care planning including the Personal Education Plan; set out a duty to promote educational achievement; and place Going the Extra Mile (a programme where care leavers can remain with their foster carers up to the age of 21) on a statutory footing
- developing a framework to outline quality provision for Looked After Children in schools
- considering whether to have a Looked After Children Champion role (like England's Virtual School Head) in the longer term (currently part of a pilot project)
- assessing the adequacy of the Personal Education Plan process
- creating opportunities for secondchance learning for looked after children when they have attained greater stability in their lives, and
- reviewing current advice and guidance arrangements for care leavers, including the role of personal advisors, and enhance practical support measures including financial advice and information.

In addition, the Executive is using resources from its 'transformation fund' to improve children's social care services, including support for transition to adulthood¹⁷⁶.

Care policy in Scotland

Most of the duties of Scottish local authorities to looked after children and care leavers are set out in the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 and the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014. Local authorities must prepare and review a care plan for all children they look after. Support for learning for looked after children is covered by the Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004, outlined above under 'SEND policy in Scotland'. Under this Act, looked after children are automatically deemed to have additional support needs unless the education authority determine that they do not, and local authorities must consider whether such a child requires a Coordinated Support Plan.

In October 2016, the First Minister launched an independent review of the care system in Scotland with the aim of identifying and delivering change that will transform the wellbeing of children and young people¹⁷⁷. The review is interrogating current legislation, practices, culture and ethos of the care system in Scotland, working with a range of stakeholder including children and young people. The review has entered its third stage, running from June 2018 to autumn 2019, putting in place a series of initiatives across Scotland for children and young people in care, families of children on the edge of care, and care-experienced adults, and identifying pioneers of new practice. The Scottish Government also funds the Centre for Excellence for Looked After Children in Scotland (CELCIS) to research and promote good practice in this area¹⁷⁸. An enhanced learning and development framework for foster carers aims to support them to develop skills to care for all children in foster care, including disabled children¹⁷⁹.

Care policy in Wales

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, which came into force in April 2016, provides the legal framework for social services in Wales, setting out local authority duties in relation to looked after children and care leavers including care and support planning. All looked after children must have a

care and support plan, which should incorporate personal education, health, and placement plans. These plans should aim to achieve specific well-being outcomes for children, including in relation to their involvement in education, training and recreation activities and their social and economic well-being. Local authorities must develop a pathway plan for looked after children from the age of 16 to support their transition to independence. Statutory guidance to the Act¹⁸⁰ states that this must address financial capabilities and money management, assessing the young person's skills in this area and strategies for developing these. It also makes reference to supporting looked after children to build up financial responsibility gradually – with pocket money and leisure/clothing allowances - and highlights the importance of allowing them to take risks and make money mistakes as part of the learning process.

All local authorities in Wales must designate a specialist practitioner (the LACE Coordinator) to coordinate a child's education plan and address the education needs of looked after children and care leavers in the local authority area. As in England, all schools must designate a member of staff responsible for promoting the educational achievement of looked after children in their school¹⁸¹. Further education institutions may also have a designated member of staff for looked after children.

In early 2016, the Department for Education and Public Services and Department for Health and Social Services published a joint strategy to improve educational outcomes of looked after children in Wales¹⁸², proposing actions in relation to: effective, leadership partnerships and collaboration; effective learning and teaching; making better use of data; strengthening funding arrangements; and the participation of children in decision making. Action taken as part of the strategy includes:

 appointing a lead coordinator within each regional education consortia to focus on the needs of looked after children

- development of a guide for the designated person for looked after children in schools
- establishing the Improving Outcomes for Children Ministerial Advisory Group and a National Strategic Group focused on programmes to improve educational outcomes for looked after children
- developing an on-line community of practice (COP) for practitioners responsible for the education and well-being of looked after children, and
- plans for a best practice report formalising service level agreements between schools and post 16 institutions to facilitate smooth transition.

Care policy – the opportunities

In England, guidance makes specific reference to including managing money in looked after children's Personal Education Plans and to assessing and supporting financial capability as care leavers move into independence. The Department for Education is currently reviewing educational outcomes for children in need (including looked after children). The Northern Ireland Executive is currently consulting on a draft strategy for looking after children, and the Welsh Government has recently implemented a new statutory framework for supporting children in care and care leavers. Wales, compared to other nations, has strong references to financial capability throughout statutory guidance on care and pathway planning for looked after children and care leavers.

- Across the UK, work with the relevant government agencies and social work/practitioners bodies could be used to explore opportunities for further embedding financial capability development into the care and education planning processes for looked after children and care leavers.
- In **England**, work with the Department for Education and National Association of Virtual School Heads could identify and share examples of good practice in relation to supporting looked after children and care leavers to develop their money skills, including as part of the PEP process.
- In **England**, the children in need review, focussed on educational outcomes, is an opportunity to ensure action to improve academic attainment is complemented by work on outcomes relating to wider life skills, like financial capability.
- In **Northern Ireland**, the draft looked after children strategy and proposed Adoption and Children Bill, with their focus on education and skills and preparing looked after children for independence, provide an opportunity to embed financial capability development into planning and support for these children.
- In **Scotland**, the independent Care Review is an opportunity to identify opportunities to incorporate evidence of what works and financial capability practice into the development and testing of new interventions with children in care and care leavers.
- In Wales, the Welsh Government could be supported to strengthen the focus on life (including financial) skills in the ongoing delivery of their strategy to improve educational outcomes for looked after children.

Young carers

Young carers are children under 18 with caring responsibilities. They are more likely to be affected by factors linked with poor financial capability, such as poverty, low parental employment and low educational attainment. They are also likely to have specific financial capability needs due to their caring responsibilities and potential responsibility for managing, or helping to manage, household finances¹⁸³.

In **England**, the Children and Families Act 2014¹⁸⁴ gives young carers the right to a carer's assessment and to have any identified needs met by their local authority. In addition, older young people are entitled to a transition assessment before they reach the age of 18 to support their transition into adulthood and potentially from children's to adult services. The *Carers Action Plan 2018-2020*¹⁸⁵, published by the Department for Health and Social Care in June 2018, sets out actions to improve:

- the identification of young carers to secure early access to support and implementation of safeguarding arrangements where necessary
- young carers' educational opportunities and outcomes, referring to the Department for Education's review of the educational outcomes of children in need, which includes young carers (see above under 'children in care, care leavers and children in need')
- young carers' access to support services, focusing on health outcomes through the Young Carer Health Champions programme and implementation of the mental health Green Paper (see below under 'mental health and well-being'), and
- support for young adult carers to ensure positive transitions for 16-24 year-olds, including funding for a project to identify and disseminate effective practice in providing practical and emotional support around the transition to adulthood.

There is no specific mention of work to improve young carers' financial capability or wider life skills. As stated above, the Department for Education is undertaking a review into the educational outcomes of 'children in need', including young carers.

In **Northern Ireland**, young carers are entitled to a young carer's needs assessment from their local Health and Social Care Trust under the Children (NI) Order 1995¹⁸⁶ and Carers and Direct Payments Act (Northern Ireland) 2002¹⁸⁷. Northern Ireland's most recent strategy relating to support for carers was published in 2006¹⁸⁸.

In Scotland, The Carers (Scotland) Act 2016¹⁸⁹, which came into force in April 2018, places duties on local authorities to: provide support to carers based on their identified needs; provide all identified young carers with a young carer statement setting out the carers' needs and planned outcomes; provide information and advice to carers including on issues such as income maximisation; and, in partnership with the relevant health board, prepare a local carer strategy. Key provisions and carers' entitlements under the Act are set out in a Carers' charter¹⁹⁰. In addition, in 2017, the Scottish Government announced other measures to support young carers including: a new Young Carer Grant (£300 a year) for young carers aged 16-18 who do at least 16 hours of caring per week but do not qualify for Carer's Allowance (from autumn 2019, with free bus travel from 2020-21), and more rewards for 11-18-year-old young carers through the Young Scot National Entitlement Card (from April 2018)¹⁹¹. Scotland's most recent strategy for young carers ran from 2010 to 2015¹⁹².

In **Wales**, the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014, which came into force in April 2016, gives every young carer the right to an assessment of their needs by the local authority and for those needs to be met. The Welsh Government's most recent strategy relating to young carers is *The Carers Strategy for Wales 2013*, which made a series of

commitments. These and subsequent actions include:

- monitoring and evaluating outcomes achieved for young carers through the Carers Information and Consultation Strategies
- updating, disseminating and promoting the Young Carers Toolkit, a training aid for health, education, social services professionals, young carers and young adult carers¹⁹³
- funding and engaging with the Young Carers Network¹⁹⁴, and
- gathering information on local authorities' models of young carers' services and scoping the evaluation of these.

The strategy makes no specific reference to developing young carers' financial capability or wider life skills.

Young carers policy - the opportunities

In Scotland, the new Carers (Scotland) Act 2016 came into force in 2018, with a requirement for local carers strategies, young carers 'statements' and stronger duties around the provision of support to meet young carers' needs. England's and Wales's carers' strategies do not have a specific focus on life skills or financial capability for young carers.

- In **England**, financial capability could better be embedded into approaches to supporting young carers in local strategies. In the shorter-term, the funded project on transitions could be an opportunity to gather evidence of good practice around financial education.
- In **Wales**, any future activity to review or renew the 2013 carers' strategy would be an opportunity to build in action on financial capability.
- In **Scotland**, the enhanced focus on young carers, as a result of the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016, could provide a useful context in which to test effective approaches to embedding financial education into local authorities' provision.

Mental health and well-being

There is little research into the relationship between money and mental health for children and young people. However, there is evidence demonstrating the link between mental health problems in adulthood and poor financial outcomes. Increasing awareness of mental health and emotional problems among children and young people, and concerns that levels of need are on the rise, has resulted in a focus on this issue for children's policy makers across parts of the UK:

 In England, the Departments for Education and Health recently completed a consultation on a Green Paper setting out proposals to strengthen the mental health support provided to children and young people particularly through schools¹⁹⁵. Proposals, subsequently confirmed in the government's consultation response¹⁹⁶, include the introduction of a designated lead for mental health in all schools, the establishment of mental health support teams to provide interventions for school-age children with mild to moderate needs and pilots of reduced waiting times for more acute mental health services. These measures will be tested in trailblazer areas, with further roll-out to at least a fifth to a quarter of the country by the end of 2022/23.

 In Northern Ireland, the Executive's draft ten-year strategy for children and young people (2017-27)¹⁹⁷ proposes eight priority outcomes for children and young people, against which Executive
Departments will prepare plans. The
priority 'physical and mental health
outcome' highlights children's mental
health as an area of particular need and
this is reflected in the associated
headline indicators.

- In Scotland, the Government has committed to publishing a ten-year Child and Adolescent Health and Wellbeing Action Plan in 2018, with actions targeted at improving children's physical and mental health.
- Wales is six years into the Welsh Government's ten-year strategy to improve mental health and well-being,

Together for Mental Health 198. The delivery plan for 2016-19 includes priority goals to ensure that: all children and young people are more resilient and better able to tackle poor mental wellbeing when it occurs; and children experiencing mental health problems get better sooner. Actions relating to the former goal focus on work in the school context to promote children's mental health, emotional well-being and resilience, and to support children at greater risk of poor mental health including young carers, looked after children, children in the secure estate and children who have been bullied.

Mental health policy – the opportunities

While there is an underdeveloped evidence base exploring the links between mental health and financial capability for children and young people, the links in adulthood are better researched. The increasing prioritisation of action to improve children's mental health and well-being, among policymakers across the **UK**, could be an opportunity to explore the relationship between childhood mental health and money further through research and testing of practice.

Housing and welfare

Children and young people growing up in lowincome or over-indebted households, and those living in the social rented sector, are less likely than their peers to develop good financial capability¹⁹⁹. Therefore, policy initiatives aimed at providing support to families in this sort of need could provide a route to delivering financial education to children and young people alongside their parents and carers. Rather than summarising all policy relating to housing and welfare across the nations, this section highlights the provision of support, advice and guidance alongside housing provision and benefits.

Universal Support delivered Locally

Funded by the Department for Work and Pensions, Universal Support delivered Locally (USdL) is available across England, Scotland and Wales and aims to provide integrated support for Universal Credit claimants to help them manage their benefit claims and money, including through the provision of financial guidance. It is delivered by local partnerships led by the local authority and Job Centre Plus, along with agencies such as Citizens Advice, credit unions and social landlords. Following a trial in 2014-15, which found some impact on personal budgeting, USdL is now available for all full-service Universal Credit claimants. Young people aged 16-17 entitled to Universal Credit – for example if they have responsibility for a child, are caring for a disabled person or do not have parental support – may therefore receive financial capability interventions as part of Universal Support provision.

Housing and homelessness

In **England**, the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017²⁰⁰ places a duty on local authorities to

provide universal access to free information and advice on preventing homelessness, securing accommodation when homeless, the rights of people who are homeless or threatened with homelessness, the duties of the authority, and other help available. Under the Act, all eligible people who are found to be homeless or threatened with homelessness are entitled to more tailored support from the housing authority, regardless of priority need and how they may have become homeless. Local authorities are now required to provide a personalised housing plan for homeless people, or those threatened by homelessness, setting out the steps the individual and the housing authority must take for them to remain in or find suitable accommodation, which could include financial support. In addition, the Government has published a green paper on social housing²⁰¹. As well as safety issues, it aims to address the quality of social housing, the rights of tenants, service management and tackling homelessness.

In **Scotland**, the Fairer Scotland Action Plan²⁰² included specific measures to provide support for those in housing need. As well as a commitment to provide more affordable good quality homes, the action plan committed the Scottish Government to: protecting 18-21 year olds from the UK Government's removal of automatic entitlement to housing benefit;

improving the provision of high quality temporary accommodation for young people and families with children; and enabling greater prevention of homelessness through the Housing Options toolkit.

In **Wales**, the Housing (Wales) Act 2014²⁰³ placed a stronger duty on local authorities to prevent homelessness, which was implemented from 2015. In 2016, the Welsh Government published a pathway document²⁰⁴ to help local authorities and their partners provide homelessness interventions for young people. This sets out expectations relating to the provision of information and advice, early intervention with young people and their families, integration across housing and children's services and the provision of accommodation and support. There is no explicit reference to financial education, although the document includes a clear goal to help young people gain the skills they need to become more independent.

In Northern Ireland, the Executive's draft programme for government includes a commitment to the development of a new homelessness strategy with a focus on prevention and addressing chronic homelessness, the maintenance of advice services to prevent homelessness and the development of community-based health and social services to support homeless people with complex needs.

Housing and welfare policy – the opportunities

- Across England, Scotland and Wales, there is an opportunity to feed developing evidence about what works to support older young people to develop financial capability into Universal Support delivered Locally provision.
- In England, the provision of a personalised housing plan for those who are homeless or at
 risk of homelessness could include providing financial education for the whole family. The
 social housing green paper could provide a route to strengthen financial capability
 provision to families in these circumstances.
- Across Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales, the greater emphasis on prevention of homelessness, and associated tools, could help to delivr financial capability support to families and their children.

Conclusion

This report gives an overview of the policy landscape in which MAS, and in future the single financial guidance body, will be coordinating, funding and influencing activity to improve the financial capability of children and young people.

In the broader context, there are a number of significant challenges facing organisations working to secure and provide high quality financial education to the younger generation. Stretched resources, busy timetables and increasing and more complex levels of need all pose barriers to schools and other local agencies delivering on this agenda. Changing technology in the financial services sector, and technology employed by those seeking to financially exploit consumers of all ages, poses a challenge to financial education providers to ensure their curriculum and approach reflect the financial realities children and young people will face as they gain greater independence. The specific vulnerabilities of children and young people — be they growing up in a low-income household, care experienced or living with special education needs — must be reflected in work to improve children's financial capability if it is to be effective.

At the same time, the policy analysis reveals the opportunities that could be harnessed to deliver more, and more effective, financial education. While greater autonomy for schools (for example in England and Scotland) can make it harder to improve practice in an efficient and coherent way, it provides opportunities for schools themselves to recognise the value of subjects relevant to children's lives, like financial education, and to develop and share excellent practice. What is more, work in Wales to completely review and improve the school curriculum is a real chance to strengthen coverage of the subject in its schools. The emphasis on family support and family learning across the UK could be enhanced with the incorporation of a financial education offer, so parents and carers are empowered and enabled to support their own children's financial learning. Strategies to improve the outcomes of looked after children and children in need (for example in Northern Ireland and England) are an opportunity to consider the broader learning needs of these children and young people and how financial education could be tailored better to meet these needs.

So while there are significant challenges to putting in place the frameworks and actions needed to improve children's financial capability, there are opportunities too. MAS and other financial education providers and funders have made significant strides in improving our understanding of children and young people's financial capability needs, the provision available and what is effective. This puts the sector in a strong position to take advantage of the opportunities outlined in this report and put in place a strong strategy to improve the financial capability of children and young people.

Appendix A: How these Analysis reports will inform the CYP Financial Capability Commissioning Plan

Needs Analysis

Evidence on the fin cap needs of CYP in the UK, including identification of those with unique or greater need

Provision Analysis

Findings from mapping of fin ed provision; what is happening, where, for whom and by whom

Evidence Analysis

What we know from international research, 'what works' projects and other evaluations about what effective fin ed is likely to involve

Policy Landscape Analysis

Summary of the opportunities and risks in the wider policy landscape, and external drivers of change

Measures of success

20 indicators of short, medium and long term change, which we'll track to measure progress and areas for improvement Gap Analysis and Commissioning Intentions

Consideration of all the evidence available and recommendations based on this, for how we believe resource can best be targeted to ensure all CYP get a meaningful fin ed that meets their needs

Commissioning Plan

Conclusions from consultation on gap analysis and commissioning intentions Plan for what we will

seek to fund, deliver, or influence in the years 2019-22

of measures of success

Appendix B: Improving Children and Young People's Financial Capability – trends, barriers and opportunities

As part of this policy landscape analysis, MAS undertook a brief PESTLE analysis to build a picture of the wider context in which potential policy opportunities would be pursued. This analysis asked two key questions:

- what trends are likely to affect children and young people's relationship with money and financial services?
- what are the current barriers and opportunities facing those seeking to improve children and young people's financial capability?

The table on the following page sets out in brief findings from our analysis of the political, economic, social, technological, legal and environmental (PESTLE) trends that are affecting, or could affect, children's financial capability and the ability of organisations, like MAS, to improve children's money skills. This has been developed through workshops with experts within and outside MAS, drawing on MAS's needs analysis, followed by desk-based research.

- Competing priorities and impact on public services: Public policy focus on new or expanding initiatives may be challenging to achieve in the context of major challenges such as the UK leaving the European Union and the suspension of the power-sharing arrangements Northern Ireland since January 2017. Education leaders have said that the UK leaving the EU will affect resources, costs and recruitment²⁰⁵.
- **Establishment of the single financial guidance body**: the new body has an explicit legal function to coordinate a national strategy to improve the provision of financial education to children and young people²⁰⁶, however the degree of priority given to this area of work is yet to be established.
- Education and children's services are devolved: improving financial education across the four UK nations will require a differentiated approach to influencing policy and practice, however this variation also provides an opportunity for certain nations to be leaders in this sector. Further devolution to some of England's city regions²⁰⁷ will also need to be considered in strategies to promote improved financial education.
- Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: Still being
 implemented, this legislation seeks to improve the social, economic,
 environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, through reforms to local
 planning. It provides an opportunity to put financial capability at the heart
 of local agencies' long-term plans for their communities.
- School curriculum reform: in Wales, reform of the whole school curriculum is an opportunity to strengthen financial education²⁰⁸. In England, new statutory programmes of study for health education and relationships and sex education are an opportunity to enhance financial education, although the decision not to make financial education within Personal, Social, Health and Economic (PSHE) education statutory could limit improvements in this area²⁰⁹.
- **School autonomy**: increasing school autonomy, particularly in England through Academies and free schools, poses a challenge for organisations seeking to influence practice; however, it also provides scope for schools themselves to lead the development of excellent practice.
- Early intervention and evidence: A greater emphasis across governments and education and children's service agencies on using evidence to inform practice and intervening early to prevent problems escalating provides an opportunity to promote financial capability interventions that work. 210

- What children spend: on average 15-year-olds spent £25.00 a week, compared with £7.40 for seven-year-olds, who spent £7.40. Top three spending categories were clothes and shoes, school dinner, soft drinks and eating out²¹¹
- Local service funding: decreased funding for local authority services and schools across most parts of the UK – and reductions in services such as children's centres, libraries, family support and youth provision – poses a challenge to embedding financial capability into wider work with children, young people, families and communities.²¹²
- 2.4 million children living in families with problem debt in England and Wales ²¹³: growing up in an over-indebted household is linked to poorer levels of financial capability in childhood and adulthood ²¹⁴.
- The majority of children (73%) are growing up in financially 'squeezed' and 'struggling' households: Growing up with a parent who is 'squeezed' or 'struggling' puts children at a greater risk of having poor financial capability.
- Universal Credit: there is some evidence of families falling into financial difficulties during the introduction of Universal Credit.²¹⁶
- Introduction of higher university fees and maintenance loans:
 exposes young people to high levels of debt and can pose a barrier
 to more disadvantaged young people attending university (with
 implications for future employment and earnings). However,
 increases the importance of decisions about future study as a
 'teachable moment'. Reviews of student fees in England and
 Scotland are an opportunity to embed financial capability support in
 process.²¹⁷
- Capacity to deliver financial education: the scale and speed of funding reductions has posed a challenge to the sustainability and breadth of offer of charities, a significant provider of financial education interventions²¹⁸.
- Future priorities of major funders of children and young people's financial capability: a significant proportion of resources for financial capability interventions comes from a limited number of major funders financial services and government together contribute to over £10m and are sole funders of over £5m (of a total mapped funding of £13m²¹⁹.

- **Child poverty and homelessness**: the number of children growing up in poverty and the number of homeless households with children is increasing²²⁰. Growing up in poverty is associated with poor financial capability, and could be perceived to pose a barrier to messaging about good practice in the family (e.g. giving pocket money).
- Increasing numbers of vulnerable children: in England²²¹, NI²²² and Wales²²³, the number of children in care increasing and they have more complex needs. There are more young carers²²⁴ and, in England, more children and young people with complex needs²²⁵.
- Young people are taking fewer risks: overall, the proportion of young people drinking, smoking or taking drugs regularly has declined over a number of years²²⁶.
- Opportunities to spend, younger: through for example young people's
 debit cards or pre-paid cards, early exposure to advertising online, in-game
 purchases and perceived pressure to spend exacerbated by social media²²⁷
- Parents and children and young people support financial education: Children and young people continue to say they want schools to do more to help them develop life skills, like financial capability²²⁸, and 90% of parents recognise the importance of helping their children learn about money²²⁹.
- **Child Trust Funds**: the first cohort of 16 year-olds take control of their fund in September 2018, and will access their accounts in September 2020, an opportunity to raise the profile of financial capability²³⁰.
- Children's maths attainment is improving in England²³¹: this is a positive indication as good numeracy skills in childhood is positively associated with financial capability. However, disadvantaged pupils are less likely to benefit from high quality maths teaching²³².
- Traditional models of childhood and adulthood are being challenged: with young children gaining greater independence to interact with the world online, young people living with their parents for longer and increasing understanding of the continuing development of the brain in adolescence²³³.
- Auto-enrolment workplace pension: to be rolled out to all workplaces for all employees aged 22+ who earn at least £10,000 per year.

Technological

- More tech, less cash: parents' habits are changing (with fewer cash payments, more online and contactless payments and banking) which means children are likely to be observing fewer cash transactions²³⁴. The implications of this for children's financial capability are under-researched.
- Improved understanding of needs and what works: The Money Advice Services, working with others across the sector, is developing the strongest evidence base to date on children's financial capability needs and what works to develop these skills.
- **Diversity in the financial education sector**²³⁵: this poses a challenge for organisations like MAS seeking to influence the use of evidence in practice and for financial educators assessing what resources and advice to use.
- Children's digital lives: children and young people's increasing
 presence online means increased risk of unintentional spending and
 exposure to cyber-fraud and financial exploitation. For example, in
 2017, Cifas UK member banks identified 8,500 money mule accounts
 owned by people under the age of 21²³⁶.
- **Financial technology**: significant and continuing change within the financial world, for example online services, open banking, crypto currencies and new forms of cyber-fraud which will need to be reflected in financial education interventions.
- Growing market offering financial tools for children: for example
 GoHenry and RoosterMoney, provides more opportunities for
 parents and carers to practice financial skills with their children e.g.
 budgeting, saving, managing an account and using debit cards.
 However, paid-for services are not available for those who might
 most need them.
- **Technology in schools**: increasing use of technology in schools²³⁷ provides an opportunity for young people to practice online financial skills.
- A busy school curriculum: could undermine the ability of teachers to focus on financial capability.

Legal

• Statutory status of financial education: financial education is part of the statutory national curriculum across the UK, except in primary school in England – providing an opportunity to engage schools in developing improved practice. However, see also challenges relating to space in the school curriculum (under 'technological') and school autonomy (under 'political').

Environmental

• Regional and geographic variation and vulnerability: households in rural areas showing more signs of potential financial vulnerability but those in urban areas more likely to be in financial difficulty, and, in England, there is a north-south divide in terms of household income²³⁸. Some children are growing up neighbourhoods dominated by betting shops, pawn shops and sources of high-cost credit ('debtogenic' areas), potentially normalising risky financial behaviours²³⁹.

- ² Children and young people are physically and mentally healthy; children and young people enjoy play and leisure; Children and young people learn and achieve
- ³ https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/articles/early-intervention-transformation-programme
- ⁴ Taking Control: A Financial Capability Strategy for Northern Ireland Policy Consultation (Department of Enterprise, Trade and investment, 2013) https://www.economy-
- $\underline{ni.gov.uk/sites/default/files/consultations/deti/ni-financial-capability-strategy-consultation-document.pdf}$
- ⁵ http://www.gov.scot/Topics/People/Young-People/gettingitright
- ⁶ <u>https://beta.gov.scot/policies/improving-public-services/children-and-young-people-improvement-collaborative/</u>
- ⁷ A nation with ambition: the Government's Programme for Scotland 2017-2018 (Scottish Government, 2017) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/nation-ambition-governments-programme-scotland-2017-18/
- ⁸ Fairer Scotland Action Plan (Scottish Government, 2016) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/fairer-scotland-action-plan/
- ⁹ *Taking Wales Forward 2016-2021* (Welsh Government, 2016) https://gov.wales/about/programme-for-government/?lang=en
- ¹⁰ Shared Purpose: Shared Future: Statutory Guidance (Welsh Government, 2016) https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/future-generations-act/statutory-guidance/?lang=en
- ¹¹ https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/crc.aspx
- https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/ https://www.niccy.org/ https://www.cypcs.org.uk/ https://www.childcomwales.org.uk/
- ¹³ S.78 Education Act 2002 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents; s.1 Academies Act 2010 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/32/contents
- ¹⁴ As of January 2018, *Converting maintained schools to academies* (National Audit Office, 2018) https://www.nao.org.uk/report/converting-maintained-schools-to-academies/
- ¹⁵ The national curriculum in England Key stages 3 and 4 framework document (Department for Education, 2014) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-secondary-curriculum
- ¹⁶ National curriculum in England: citizenship programmes of study (Department for Education, 2013) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-citizenship-programmes-of-study
- ¹⁷ See *The national curriculum in England Key stages 3 and 4 framework document* (Department for Education, 2014) <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-curriculum-in-england-secondary-curriculum-i
- ¹⁸ Personal, social, health and economic (PSHE) education guidance (Department for Education, 2013) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/personal-social-health-and-economic-education-pshe/personal-social-health-and-economic-pshe-education
- ¹⁹ Sex and Relationship Education Guidance (Department for Education and Employment, 2000)

 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/283599/sex_and_relationship_education_guidance.pdf
- ²⁰ Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and Health Education in England Government consultation (including call for evidence response), subject to consultation until November 2018 (Department for Education, 2018) https://consult.education.gov.uk/pshe/relationships-education-rse-health-education/
- ²¹ Statement by Damian Hinds MP Secretary of State for Education, Hansard, 19th July 2018, Vol. 645, col.614 https://hansard.parliament.uk/
- ²² "Boost for school standards with primary literacy drive" (Department for Education, January 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/news/boost-for-school-standards-with-primary-literacy-drive
 ²³ http://www.mathshubs.org.uk
- ²⁴ The Northern Ireland Curriculum Primary (Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment, 2007) http://ccea.org.uk/sites/default/files/docs/curriculum/area_of_learning/fs_northern_ireland_curriculum_primary.pdf
- ²⁵ The Statutory Curriculum at Key Stage 3 Rationale and Detail (Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment, 2007)

¹ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

http://ccea.org.uk/sites/default/files/docs/curriculum/area_of_learning/statutory_requirements/statutory_curriculum_ks3.pdf

- ²⁶ https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/articles/entitlement-framework
- ²⁷ http://www.nicurriculum.org.uk/curriculum microsite/financial capability/index.asp
- ²⁸ https://education.gov.scot/scottish-education-system/policy-for-scottish-education/policy-drivers/CfE-(building-from-the-statement-appendix-incl-btc1-5)
- ²⁹ Note third and fourth levels both apply to S1-S3/ages 11-14.
- ³⁰ Note third and fourth levels both apply to S1-S3/ages 11-14.
- 31 http://www.sqa.org.uk/sqa/48102.html
- 32 https://beta.gov.scot/publications/schools-personal-and-social-education-review/
- 33 http://www.readwritecount.scot/
- http://www.gov.scot/makingmathscount; Making Maths Count One Year Review Report (2018)

https://blogs.gov.scot/making-maths-count/2018/01/12/making-maths-count-one-year-review-report/

35 Education in Wales: Our national mission: Action plan 2017-21 (Welsh Government, 2017)

https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/allsectorpolicies/education-in-wales/?lang=en

³⁶ Curriculum update – developments to

May 2018 (2018) https://beta.gov.wales/new-curriculum-update-may-2018

³⁷ National Literacy and Numeracy Framework (Learning Wales, 2014)

http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/nlnf/?lang=en

- ³⁸ Personal and social education framework for 7 to 19-year-olds in Wales (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008) http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/130425-personal-and-social-education-framework-en.pdf
- ³⁹ Learning Pathways 14-19 Guidance (Learning Wales, 2014) http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/learning-pathways-14-19-guidance/?lang=en
- ⁴⁰ http://learning.gov.wales/resources/learningpacks/financial-education/?lang=en
- ⁴¹ Financial education for 7 to 19-year-olds in Wales: Guidance for schools and colleges (Welsh Government, 2011)

http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/1110financial7to19en.pdf

- ⁴² Every school a good school a policy for school improvement (Department of Education, 2008) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/publications/every-school-good-school-policy-school-improvement
- ⁴³ Education Governance Next steps empowering our teachers, parents and communities to deliver excellence and equity for our children (The Scottish Government, 2017) http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0052/00521075.pdf
- ⁴⁴ 2018 national improvement framework and improvement plan (Scottish Government, 2017)
- ⁴⁵ Deputy First Minister and Cabinet Secretary for Education and Skills statement to Scottish Parliament (26 June 2018) http://www.parliament.scot/parliamentarybusiness/report.aspx?r=11626&i=105358&c=2105303
- ⁴⁶ Achieving improvement in support to schools through regional education consortia an early view (Wales Audit Office, 2015)

https://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/regional education consortia report english.pdf

- ⁴⁷ National model for regional working (Welsh Government, 2015)
- $\frac{https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/publications/guidance/national-model-for-regional-working/?lang=en$
- ⁴⁸ School inspection handbook (Ofsted, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-inspection-handbook-from-september-2015
- ⁴⁹ Inspection and Self-Evaluation Framework Effective Practice and Self-Evaluation Questions for Post-primary (Education and Training Inspectorate, 20170 https://www.etini.gov.uk/publications/inspection-and-self-evaluation-framework-isef-effective-practice-and-self-evaluation-1
- ⁵⁰ How good is our school? (Education Scotland, 2015) https://education.gov.scot/improvement/self-evaluation/HGIOS4
- ⁵¹ T Levels: next steps for providers (Education and Skills Funding Agency, 2018)

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/t-levels-next-steps-for-providers; Implementation of T Level programmes Government consultation response (Department for Education, 2018)

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/implementation-of-t-level-programmes; "New T Levels mark a revolution in technical education" (Department for Education, 2018)

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-t-levels-mark-a-revolution-in-technical-education; Post-16 technical education reforms: T level action plan (Department for Education, 2017)

 $\underline{https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/post-16-skills-plan-and-independent-report-on-technical-education}$

- 52 https://www.instituteforapprenticeships.org/about/outline-content-for-first-new-t-levels/
- ⁵³ Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Potential: A plan for improving social mobility through education (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-social-mobility-through-education
 ⁵⁴ English Apprenticeships: Our 2020 Vision (HM Government, 2015)
- https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeships-in-england-vision-for-2020
- ⁵⁵ Progress report on the Apprenticeships Reform Programme (Department for Education, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apprenticeship-reform-programme-benefits-realisation-strategy
- ⁵⁶ Careers guidance and inspiration in schools: Statutory guidance for governing bodies, school leaders and school staff (Department for Education, 2015) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools
- ⁵⁷ Careers strategy: making the most of everyone's skills and talents (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/careers-strategy-making-the-most-of-everyones-skills-and-talents
- ⁵⁸ Careers guidance and inspiration in schools: Statutory guidance for governing bodies, school leaders and school staff (Department for Education, 2015) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/careers-guidance-provision-for-young-people-in-schools
- ⁵⁹ Review of Post-18 Education and Funding: terms of reference (Department for Education, 2018)

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-post-18-education-and-funding-terms-of-reference

 ⁶⁰ Generating our Success: The Northern Ireland Strategy for Youth Training (Department for Employment and Learning, 2015)

 https://www.economy-ni.gov.uk/publications/generating-our-success-northern-ireland-strategy-youth-training
- 61 https://www.nidirect.gov.uk/articles/training-success
- ⁶² https://www.nidirect.gov.uk/information-and-services/education-maintenance-allowance/money-learn-education-maintenance-allowance
- ⁶³ Securing our Success: The Northern Ireland Strategy on Apprenticeships (Department for Employment and Learning, 2014) https://www.economy-ni.gov.uk/publications/securing-our-success-northern-ireland-strategy-apprenticeships
- ⁶⁴ Preparing for success 2015 2020 : A strategy for careers education and guidance (Department for Employment and Learning and Department for Education, 2016) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/publications/preparing-success-2015-2020-strategy-careers-education-and-guidance
- ⁶⁵ The 15-24 Learner Journey Review (Scottish Government, 2018) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/15-24-learner-journey-review-9781788518741/
- ⁶⁶ Developing the young workforce: Scotland's youth employment strategy (Scottish Government, 2014) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/developing-young-workforce-scotlands-youth-employment-strategy/ ⁶⁷ https://www.mygov.scot/ema/
- ⁶⁸ https://beta.gov.scot/policies/young-people-training-employment/apprenticeships/
- ⁶⁹ https://www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/what-we-do/scotlands-careers-services/our-careers-service-in-schools/
- ⁷⁰ https://www.myworldofwork.co.uk/
- ⁷¹ Career Information, Advice and Guidance in Scotland: A Framework for Service Redesign and Improvement (Scottish Government, 2011) http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2011/03/11110615/0
- ⁷² A New Social Contract for Students Fairness, Parity and Clarity (Scottish Government, 2017) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-student-financial-support-scotland/
- ⁷³ Youth engagement and progression framework: Implementation plan (Welsh Government, 2013) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/youthengagement/?lang=en
- 74 https://www.mygov.scot/ema/
- ⁷⁵ Aligning the Apprenticeship model to the needs of the Welsh economy (Welsh Government, 2017) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/apprenticeships/apprenticeships-skills-policy-plan/?lang=en
- ⁷⁶ https://www.careerswales.com/en/jobs-and-training/job-seeking/vacancy-search/what-is-jobs-growth-wales/
- ⁷⁷ Careers and the world of work: a framework for 11 to 19-year-olds in Wales (Learning Wales, 2013) http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/careers-world-of-work/?lang=en

- ⁷⁹ East London, Liverpool City Region, West Midlands, Tees Valley and Sunderland, Bristol & Somerset and Eastern Counties
- ⁸⁰ https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/articles/youth-service
- ⁸¹ Children and Young People's Strategy 2017-2027 Consultation Document (Northern Ireland Executive/Department of Education, 2016) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/consultations/children-and-young-peoples-strategy-2017-2027
- ⁸² Our ambitions for improving the life chances of young people in Scotland: National Youth Work Strategy 2014-2019 (Scottish Government/Education Scotland, 2014) https://education.gov.scot/Documents/youth-work-strategy-181214.pdf
- ⁸³ Extending Entitlement: support for 11 to 25 year olds in Wales Direction and Guidance (Welsh Assembly government, 2002) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/youth-work/extending-entitlement-support-for-11-to-25-year-olds-in-wales/?lang=en
- ⁸⁴ Minister for the Welsh Language and Lifelong Learning written statement "Youth Work in Wales Moving Forward Together", 21st March 2018
- $\frac{\text{https://gov.wales/about/cabinet/statements/2018/YouthWorkinWalesMovingForwardTogether/?lang}{=} en$
- ⁸⁵ Our Future: a review of Extending Entitlement (Welsh Government, 2018) https://beta.gov.wales/review-extending-entitlement
- ⁸⁶ https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/skillsandtraining/youth-work/youth-work-reports/?lang=en
- ⁸⁷ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research
- ⁸⁸ Where both parents/carers are in work and earning at least the National Minimum Wage for 16 hours per week and less than £100,000 per year
- ⁸⁹ Statutory framework for the early years foundation stage (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2
- ⁹⁰ Unlocking Talent, Fulfilling Potential: A plan for improving social mobility through education (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-social-mobility-through-education. See also https://www.gov.uk/government/news/multi-million-fund-to-boost-childrens-early-language-skills (1 July 2018) and https://www.gov.uk/government/news/multi-million-fund-to-boost-childrens-early-language-skills (30 April 2018)
- ⁹¹ Early Years Workforce Strategy (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-workforce-strategy
- 92 https://www.nidirect.gov.uk/articles/pre-school-education-nursery
- ⁹³ Curricular Guidance for Pre-School Education (Council for the Curriculum, Examinations and Assessment (CEA), 2018) https://ccea.org.uk/curriculum/pre-school. And using the *The Inspection and Self-Evaluation Framework (ISEF)* (ETINI, 2017) <a href="https://www.etini.gov.uk/publications/inspection-and-self-evaluation-framework-isef-effective-practice-and-self-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-framework-isef-evaluation-f
- ⁹⁴ Delivering Social Change Through Childcare (Northern Ireland Executive, 2015) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/articles/childcare-strategy
- 95 <u>https://www.mygov.scot/childcare-costs-help/funded-early-learning-and-childcare/?</u> ga=2.154747000.1927990457.1530528722-784109289.1528723132
- ⁹⁶ A Blueprint for 2020: The expansion of early learning and childcare in Scotland: Quality Action Plan (Scottish Government, 2017) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/blueprint-2020-expansion-early-learning-childcare-scotland-quality-action-plan/. This also summarises action taken in response to a 2015 independent review into the early learning workforce:

https://beta.gov.scot/publications/scottish-government-response-independent-review-scottish-early-learning-childcare-elc/

⁹⁷ Pre-Birth to Three: Positive Outcomes for Scotland's Children and Families Learning and Teaching Scotland National Guidance (Scottish Government, 2010)

 $\underline{https://education.gov.scot/improvement/Documents/ELC/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC2_PreBirthToThree/ELC3_PreBirthTo$

⁷⁸ This follows on from the government's Race Disparity Audit published in 2017 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/race-disparity-audit

2020/? ga=2.192037994.1927990457.1530528722-784109289.1528723132 (closed Jun 2018)

http://learning.gov.wales/docs/learningwales/publications/150803-fp-framework-en.pdf

¹⁰³ https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/childcare/talk-childcare/?lang=en.

¹⁰⁴ Foundation Phase Profile Handbook (Welsh Government, 2017)

https://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/170906-foundation-phase-profile-en.pdf

¹⁰⁵ National Minimum Standards for Regulated Childcare for children up to the age of 12 years (Welsh Government, 2016) https://gov.wales/docs/cssiw/publications/160303regchildcareen.pdf

¹⁰⁶ Early Years Outcomes Framework (Welsh Government, 2015)

https://gov.wales/docs/dcells/publications/150916-early-years-outcomes-framework-en.pdf

¹⁰⁷ https://gov.wales/newsroom/educationandskills/2018/take-time-to-talk-listen-and-play/?lang=en

¹⁰⁸ https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/parenting-support-guidance/help/flyingstart/?lang=en

¹⁰⁹ "Closing the word gap: beyond reading and rhymes" (Asmussen, K, Early Intervention Foundation, June 2018) http://www.eif.org.uk/closing-the-word-gap-beyond-reading-and-rhymes/

¹¹⁰ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

¹¹¹ "DfE commits to children's centres consultation" (CYP Now, 3 January 2017)

 $\underline{https://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/news/2002933/dfe-commits-to-childrens-centres-consultation}$

¹¹² National Evaluation of the Troubled Families Programme Final Synthesis Report (DCLG, 2016)

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-evaluation-of-the-first-troubled-families-programme; Supporting disadvantaged families Annual report of the Troubled Families Programme 2017-18 (MHCLG, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-evaluation-of-the-troubled-families-programme-2015-

to-2020-interim-findings

113 Healthy child programme 0 to 19: health visitor and school nurse commissioning (guidance) (Public Health England, 2016) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/healthy-child-programme-0-to-19-health-

visitor-and-school-nurse-commissioning

114 http://fnp.nhs.uk/

115 https://www.nidirect.gov.uk/articles/sure-start-services

¹¹⁶ http://www.publichealth.hscni.net/directorate-public-health/health-and-social-wellbeing-improvement/family-nurse-partnership

¹¹⁷ Families Matter: Supporting Families in Northern Ireland Regional Family and Parenting Strategy (Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, 2009) https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/publications/families-matter-supporting-families-northern-ireland

¹¹⁸ Universal Health Visiting Pathway in Scotland: pre-birth to pre-school (Scottish Government, 2015) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/universal-health-visiting-pathway-scotland-pre-birth-pre-school/

119 https://beta.gov.scot/policies/maternal-and-child-health/family-nurse-partnership/

120 https://beta.gov.scot/policies/social-security/best-start-grant/

¹²¹ Learning together" Scotland's national action plan on parental involvement, parental engagement, family learning and learning at home 2018 – 2021 (Scottish Government/COSLA, 2018)

https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2018/08/4322/downloads

¹²² Every child, every chance: tackling child poverty delivery plan 2018-2022 (Scottish Government, 2018) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/child-chance-tackling-child-poverty-delivery-plan-2018-22/

 $\frac{123}{\text{https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/parenting-support-guidance/help/families-first/?lang=en}$

⁹⁸ https://education.gov.scot/improvement/learning-resources/Building%20the%20Ambition

⁹⁹ A BLUEPRINT FOR 2020: THE EXPANSION OF EARLY LEARNING AND CHILDCARE IN SCOTLAND - Early Learning and Childcare Service Model for 2020: Consultation Paper (Scottish Government/COSLA, 2018) https://consult.gov.scot/children-and-families/service-model-for-

¹⁰⁰ National parenting strategy: making a positive difference to children and young people through parenting (Scottish Government, 2012) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/national-parenting-strategy-making-positive-difference-children-young-people-through/

¹⁰¹ http://playtalkread.scot/

¹⁰² Curriculum for Wales: Foundation Phase Framework (Revised 2015)

- 124 https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/parenting-support-guidance/help/parents-childcare-employment/?lang=en
- ¹²⁵ Storing up trouble: a postcode lottery of children's social care (All Party Parliamentary Group for Children, 2018) https://www.ncb.org.uk/storinguptrouble
- 126 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/9/contents
- 127 https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/social-mobility-commission
- ¹²⁸ West Somerset; Norwich; Blackpool; North Yorkshire coast; Derby; Oldham; Bradford; Doncaster; Fenland and East Cambridgeshire; Hastings; Ipswich; Stoke-on-Trent
- 129 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/social-mobility-and-opportunity-areas
- 130 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/plans-launched-to-drive-social-mobility-in-opportunity-areas
- $^{131}\,\underline{\text{https://www.gov.uk/government/news/multi-million-pound-fund-to-support-disadvantaged-children-in-the-early-years}$
- 132 https://www.communities-ni.gov.uk/articles/poverty
- ¹³³ Delivering Social Change: the Executive's Child Poverty Strategy (Northern Ireland Executive, 2016) https://www.communities-ni.gov.uk/publications/child-poverty-strategy
- 134 https://povertyinequality.scot/
- ¹³⁵ Every child, every chance: tackling child poverty delivery plan 2018-2022 (Scottish Government, 2018) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/child-chance-tackling-child-poverty-delivery-plan-2018-22/
- ¹³⁶ Consultation on the Supporting Disabled Children, Young People and Their Families Resource (Scottish Government, 2018) http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2018/06/7204
- ¹³⁷ Glasgow, Dundee, Inverclyde, West Dunbartonshire, North Ayrshire, Clackmannanshire, North Lanarkshire, East Ayrshire and Renfrewshire
- 138 https://beta.gov.scot/policies/schools/pupil-attainment/
- ¹³⁹ https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/childrenandfamilies/?lang=en
- ¹⁴⁰ Child Poverty Strategy for Wales (Welsh Government, 2015) https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/child-poverty/?lang=en
- ¹⁴¹ Cabinet Secretary for Education written statement "Pupil Development Grant Access" (7 Jun 2018) https://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2018/pdga/?lang=en
- ¹⁴² https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/parenting-support-guidance/help/flyingstart/?lang=en
- 143 https://gov.wales/topics/people-and-communities/people/children-and-young-people/childcare/?lang=en
- ¹⁴⁴ Flying Start, summary statistics 2017-18 (Welsh Government, 2018) https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/flying-start/?lang=en
- ¹⁴⁵ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research
- $\frac{146}{\text{http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted}} \text{ ; } \frac{\text{https://www.gov.uk/children-with-special-educational-needs}}$
- ¹⁴⁷ Performance P Scale attainment targets for pupils with special educational needs (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/p-scales-attainment-targets-for-pupils-with-sen
- ¹⁴⁸ Special educational needs and disability code of practice: 0 to 25 years Statutory guidance for organisations which work with and support children and young people who have special educational needs or disabilities (Department for Education/Department of Health, 2015) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/send-code-of-practice-0-to-25
- 149 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-funding-boost-for-pupils-with-send
- ${}^{150}\,\underline{\text{https://www.gov.uk/government/news/45m-boost-for-young-people-with-send}}\ ;$
- https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-measures-to-support-children-with-send
- ¹⁵¹ Under Children Act 1989 s.17, a child who is unlikely to achieve or maintain a reasonable level of health or development, or whose health and development is likely to be significantly or further impaired, without the provision of services <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-children-in-need/review-of-children-in
- ¹⁵² Code of Practice Code of Practice on the Identification and Assessment Identification and Assessment of Special Educational Needs of Special Educational Needs (Department for Education, 1998) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/publications/code-practice-identification-and-assessment-special-educational-needs

- 153 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/2005/1117/article/4
- Subsequently amended by the Education (Additional Support for Learning) (Scotland) Act 2009, the Children and Young People (Scotland) Act 2014, and the Education (Scotland) Act 2016
- ¹⁵⁵ Supporting Children's Learning: Statutory Guidance on the Education (Additional Support for Learning) Scotland Act 2004 (as amended) Code of Practice (Third Edition) 2017 (Scottish Government, 2017) https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2017/12/9598
- ¹⁵⁶ A Fairer Scotland for Disabled People Our Delivery Plan to 2021 for the United Nations Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Scottish Government, 2016) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/fairer-scotland-disabled-people-delivery-plan-2021-united-nations-convention/
- ¹⁵⁷ Supporting disabled children, young people and their families: consultation (Scottish Government, 2018) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/consultation-supporting-disabled-children-young-people-families-resource-full-document/
- 158 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2018/2/contents/enacted. See also:
- $\frac{https://beta.gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2018-04/additional-learning-needs-and-education-tribunal-wales-act-2018-explanatory-memorandum.pdf$
- ¹⁵⁹ Special Educational Needs Code of Practice for Wales (Welsh Assembly Government, 2004) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/additional-learning-special-educational-needs/special-educational-needs/?lang=en
- ¹⁶⁰ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research
- ¹⁶¹ Administered, along with looked after children's Child Trust Funds, by the Share Foundation www.sharefound.org
- 162 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/minister-announces-improved-support-for-care-leavers
- 163 https://whatworks-csc.org.uk
- ¹⁶⁴ Promoting the education of looked after children and previously looked after children: statutory guidance for local authorities (Department for Education, 2018)
- https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/promoting-the-education-of-looked-after-children
- ¹⁶⁵ Children Act 1989 and Children and Social Work Act 2017
- ¹⁶⁶ The Children Act 1989 guidance and regulations Volume 3: planning transition to adulthood for care leavers (Department for Education, 2015) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-act-1989-transition-to-adulthood-for-care-leavers
- ¹⁶⁷ Children and Families Act 2014 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
- ¹⁶⁸ Children and Young Persons Act 2008 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/23/contents
- ¹⁶⁹ The designated teacher for looked-after and previously looked-after children: statutory guidance on their roles and responsibilities (Department for Education, 2018)
- https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/designated-teacher-for-looked-after-children
- 170 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/pupil-premium-information-for-schools-and-alternative-provision-settings
- 171 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-children-in-need/review-of-children-in-need
- ¹⁷² The Children (Northern Ireland) Order 199; Children (Leaving Care) Act (Northern Ireland) 2002; The Children (Leaving Care) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2005
- ¹⁷³ The Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995 Guidance and regulations Volume Eight Leaving and After Care (Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, 2000) <a href="https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications/children-northern-ireland-order-1995-guidance-and-regulations-volume-eight-leaving-ni.gov.uk/publications-volume-eight-leaving-ni.g
- ¹⁷⁴ Putting Care into Education: a guide for educators of care-experienced children and young people in Northern Ireland (Department for Education, 2018) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/publications/looked-after-children
- ¹⁷⁵ Strategy for looked after children: improving children's lives (Department of Health and Department of Education, 2018) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/consultations/strategy-looked-after-children-improving-childrens-lives
- ¹⁷⁶ https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/news/new-programme-launched-aimed-reforming-nis-childrens-social-work-services
- 177 https://www.carereview.scot/
- ¹⁷⁸ www.celcis.org
- ¹⁷⁹ A Fairer Scotland for Disabled People (Scottish Government, 2016)

https://beta.gov.scot/publications/summary-fairer-scotland-disabled-people/

- ¹⁸⁰ Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014: Part 6 Code of Practice (Looked After and Accommodated Children) (Welsh Government, 2018) https://socialcare.wales/hub/sswbact-codes
- ¹⁸¹ Making a difference: A guide for the designated person for looked after children in schools (Welsh Government, 2017) (statutory guidance) http://learning.gov.wales/resources/browse-all/making-a-difference-a-guide-for-the-designated-person-for-looked-after-children-in-schools/?lang=en
- ¹⁸² Raising the ambitions and educational attainment of children who are looked after in Wales (Welsh Government, 2016) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/deprivation/educational-attainment-of-looked-after-children/?lang=en. See also the strategy's first progress report Raising the ambitions and educational attainment of children who are looked after in Wales: one year on (Welsh Government, 2017) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/schoolshome/deprivation/educational-attainment-of-looked-after-children/?lang=en
- ¹⁸³ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research
- ¹⁸⁴ http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2014/6/contents/enacted
- ¹⁸⁵ Carers Action Plan 2018 2020: Supporting carers today (Department of Health and Social Care, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/carers-action-plan-2018-to-2020
- http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nisi/1995/755/contents/made
- 187 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/nia/2002/6/section/2
- ¹⁸⁸ Caring for Carers: Recognising, Valuing and Supporting the Caring Role (Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety, 2006) https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/publications/caring-carers
- $\frac{189}{\text{http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Health/Support-Social-Care/Unpaid-Carers/Implementation/Carers-scotland-act-2016}$
- ¹⁹⁰ Carers' charter: Your rights as an adult carer or young carer in Scotland (Scottish Government, 2018) http://www.gov.scot/Resource/0053/00533199.pdf
- 191 https://beta.gov.scot/news/more-support-for-young-carers/
- ¹⁹² Scottish Government/COSLA (2010) Getting it Right for Young Carers The Young Carers Strategy for Scotland 2010-2015 http://www.gov.scot/resource/Doc/319441/0102105.pdf
- 193 https://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/carers/young-carers-toolkit/?lang=en
- 194 http://www.childreninwales.org.uk/our-work/young-carers/young-carers-workers-network/
- ¹⁹⁵ Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Provision: a Green Paper (Department of Health and Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
- ¹⁹⁶ Government Response to the Consultation on Transforming Children and Young People's Mental Health Provision: a Green Paper and Next Steps (Department of Health and Social Care and Department for Education, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/transforming-children-and-young-peoples-mental-health-provision-a-green-paper
- ¹⁹⁷ Children and Young People's Strategy 2017-2027: Consultation Document (Northern Ireland Executive/Department of Education, 2016) https://www.education-ni.gov.uk/consultations/children-and-young-peoples-strategy-2017-2027
- ¹⁹⁸ Together for Mental Health: A Strategy for Mental Health and Wellbeing in Wales (Welsh Government, 2012) https://gov.wales/topics/health/nhswales/mental-health-services/policy/strategy/?lang=en
- ¹⁹⁹ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

- ²⁰⁰ http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/13/contents/enacted
- ²⁰¹ A new deal for social housing (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/a-new-deal-for-social-housing
- ²⁰² Fairer Scotland Action Plan (Scottish Government, 2016) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/fairer-scotland-action-plan/
- ²⁰³ https://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/legislation/housing-act/?lang=en
- ²⁰⁴ Preventing Homelessness and Promoting Independence: A Positive Pathway to Adulthood (Cymorth Cymru, Welsh Government, 2016) https://gov.wales/topics/housing-and-regeneration/services-and-support/homelessness/youth-homelessness/?lang=en

```
<sup>205</sup> "Brexit will be 'top challenge' for schools in coming years" (Schools Week, 30 July 2018) 
https://schoolsweek.co.uk/brexit-will-be-top-challenge-for-schools-in-coming-years/; See also 
https://www.aoc.co.uk/funding-and-corporate-services/brexit
```

²⁰⁶ Section 3(9) Financial Guidance and Claims Act 2018

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/10/contents/enacted/data.htm

²⁰⁷ Under the Cities & Local Government Devolution Act 2016

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2016/1/contents/enacted

²⁰⁸ Education in Wales: Our national mission: Action plan 2017-21 (Welsh Government, 2017) https://gov.wales/topics/educationandskills/allsectorpolicies/education-in-wales/?lang=en

²⁰⁹ Relationships Education, Relationships and Sex Education, and Health Education in England Government consultation (Department for Education, 2018) https://consult.education.gov.uk/pshe/relationships-education-rse-health-education/

²¹⁰ See, for example, the establishment of a network of What Works Centres in England https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-works-network, and

²¹¹ "What do children in the UK spend their money on?" (Office for National Statistics, 2018) https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/personalandhouseholdfinances/expenditure/articles/whatdochildrenintheukspendtheirmoneyon/2018-02-15

²¹² See for example, *Third Annual Report of the Chair of the Committee of Public Accounts* (Public Accounts Committee, 2018) https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmpubacc/1399/1399.pdf; "School funding per pupil falls faster in England than in Wales" (Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2018) https://www.ifs.org.uk/publications/13143; *Local government in Scotland: Financial overview 2016/17* (Accounts Commission, 2017) http://www.audit-scotland.gov.uk/report/local-government-in-scotland-financial-overview-201617

²¹³ The Damage of Debt The impact of money worries on children's mental health and well-being (The Children's Society, 2016) https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/sites/default/files/the-damage-of-debt-2016.pdf

²¹⁴ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

²¹⁵ As defined in MAS's financial resilience segmentation, see Market Segmentation: an overview (MAS, 2016). Figures based on analysis of *The Financial Capability of Children, Young People and their Parents Survey 2016* https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

²¹⁶ Rolling out Universal Credit (National Audit Office, 2018) https://www.nao.org.uk/report/rolling-out-universal-credit/

²¹⁷ Review of Post-18 Education and Funding: terms of reference (Department for Education, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-post-18-education-and-funding-terms-of-reference;

A New Social Contract for Students Fairness, Parity and Clarity (Scottish Government, 2017) https://beta.gov.scot/publications/independent-review-student-financial-support-scotland/

²¹⁸ "The charity sector and funding" (NCVO, current briefing)

https://www.ncvo.org.uk/images/documents/about_us/media-centre/ncvo_briefing_funding.pdf; Children and Young People & Financial Education: Provision Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research
219 Children and Young People & Financial Education: Provision Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201617; Homeless: see, for example, Temporary accommodation live tables: January to March 2018 (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2018) https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/live-tables-on-homelessness; Homelessness in Scotland 2017-18 (Scottish Government, 2018) https://www.gov.scot/Publications/2018/06/9554;

²²¹ Children looked after in England including adoption: 2016 to 2017 (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/children-looked-after-in-england-including-adoption-2016-to-2017

²²² Children's Social Care Statistics for Northern Ireland 2016/17 (Department of Health, 2017) https://www.health-ni.gov.uk/publications/childrens-social-care-statistics-northern-ireland-201617

²²³ Experimental Statistics: Children looked after by local authorities, 2016-17 (Welsh Government, 2017) https://gov.wales/statistics-and-research/children-looked-after-local-authorities/?lang=en $\underline{https://council for disable dchildren.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/attachemnt/Data\%20 Report.pdf}$

²²⁶ Key Data on Young People 2017: Latest information and statistics (Association of Young People's Health, 2017) http://www.youngpeopleshealth.org.uk/key-data-on-young-people

²²⁷ Reference needs analysis

²²⁸ See for example UK Youth Parliament 2018 England campaign "A Curriculum for Life" http://www.ukyouthparliament.org.uk/campaign/a-curriculum-for-life-2018/

²²⁹ The Financial Capability of Children, Young People and their Parents in the UK 2016 (Money Advice Service, 2017) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

²³⁰ https://www.gov.uk/child-trust-funds

²³¹ Early years foundation stage profile results: 2016 to 2017 (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/early-years-foundation-stage-profile-results-2016-to-2017; National curriculum assessments: key stage 2, 2017 (revised) (Department for Education, 2017) https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/national-curriculum-assessments-key-stage-2-2017-revised

²³² How do shortages of maths teachers affect the within-school allocation of maths teachers to pupils? (Nuffield Foundation, 2018) http://www.nuffieldfoundation.org/sites/default/files/files/Within-

school%20allocations%20of%20maths%20teachers%20to%20pupils v FINAL2(1).pdf ²³³ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research; "Large increase in 20 to 34-year-olds living with parents since 1996" (Office for National Statistics, 2014) http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/family-demography/young-adults-living-with-parents/2013/sty-young-adults.html; "Development of the social brain in adolescence" In Self-Regulation in Adolescence. (Blakemore, S.J., 2015)

²³⁴ UK Cash and Cash Machines 2017 (UK Finance, 2017) https://www.ukfinance.org.uk/cash-still-king-but-crown-is-slipping-as-consumers-turn-to-contactless/

²³⁵ Children and Young People & Financial Education: Provision Analysis (MAS, 2018) https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

²³⁶ "New data reveals stark increase in young people acting as 'money mules'" (Cifas, 2017). See also "Fake it till you make it: meet the wolves of Instagram" (The Guardian, April 2018)

https://www.theguardian.com/news/2018/apr/19/wolves-of-instagram-jordan-belmont-social-media-traders ²³⁷ "Out with the old school? The rise of ed tech in the classroom" (The Guardian, 2017)

 $\frac{https://www.theguardian.com/small-business-network/2017/aug/01/schools-slowly-edtech-sector-cubetto-kahoot-firefly$

²³⁸ Financial Lives survey 2017 (Financial Conduct Authority, 2018)

https://www.fca.org.uk/publications/research/understanding-financial-lives-uk-adults

²³⁹ Children and Young People and Financial Capability: Needs Analysis (MAS, 2018)

https://www.moneyadviceservice.org.uk/en/corporate/research

²²⁴ Analysis by The Independent using government data in "Number of young carers in UK soars by 10,000 in four years, figures show" (January 2018) https://www.independent.co.uk/news/uk/home-news/young-carers-uk-numbers-rise-figures-support-family-social-care-benefits-community-a8177806.html

²²⁵ Understanding the needs of disabled children with complex needs or life-limiting conditions (Council for Disabled Children and True Colours Trust, 2017)